INFLUENCE OF FREE PRIMARY EDUCATION ON PUPILS' ACADEMIC PERFORMANCE IN PUBLIC PRIMARY SCHOOLS IN LAIKIPIA WEST SUB-COUNTY, LAIKIPIA COUNTY, KENYA

JOSPHINE MUTHONI THURANIRA

A Thesis Submitted to the Department of Education in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Award of Masters of Education in Leadership and Management of the Kenya Methodist University

OCTOBER, 2022

DECLARATION AND RECOMMENDATION

Declaration

This thesis is my original work and has not been submitted for a degree or any other award in any		
other University.		
Signature:	Date:	
Josphine Muthoni Thuranira	EDU-3-0002-1/2019	

Recommendation

We confirm that this thesis has been submitted for examination with our approval as university

supervisors.

Dr. Esther Thuba, PhD Kenya Methodist University

Signature:	Date:
Signature.	Dute

Dr. Lucy Ikiara, PhD Kenya Methodist University,

COPYRIGHT

© Josphine Muthoni Thuranira. "All rights reserved. No part of this thesis may be reproduced, stored in any retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronically, mechanically, by photocopying or otherwise, without prior written permission of the author or Kenya Methodist University, on that behalf"

DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to my beloved husband Mr. Nathan Thuranira, my children; Christine, Victor and Jesse for their overwhelming support.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I acknowledge the following personalities and institutions that have contributed to the success of this thesis. To begin with, is my sincere acknowledgement of my Supervisors Dr. Esther Thuba and Dr. Lucy Ikiara who have continuously and meticulously offered the necessary academic guidance. I acknowledge Kenya Methodist University for granting me the opportunity to pursue my Master's degree in Education Management and Leadership. I acknowledge the valuable inputs from all the lecturers who availed themselves with a lot of effort to make this dream come true. I also recognize my colleagues at my workplace, classmates and friends for their consistent and constant encouragement.

ABSTRACT

Kenya's government implemented free primary education in 2003 as part of its attempts to attain universal primary education. Despite these attempts, worries about the educational quality have grown. Due to a rise in pupils' enrollment, the teacher-to-pupil and pupil-to-textbook ratios, as well as classrooms, are strained. The purpose of this study was to find out how free primary education affects pupils' academic performance in public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County. The research looked into the impact of teaching-learning resources, pupil-teacher ratios, teaching-learning methods, and teachers' perceptions on pupil performance in Laikipia West Sub-County public primary schools. The study was anchored on Cognitive Behavioral Theory, Systematic Approach to Instruction Theory and Maslow's hierarchy of needs theory. The research employed descriptive survey design. The target population was 490 teachers from 49 public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub County. A sample size of 220 teachers was selected using simple random sampling method. The researcher also targeted 10 head teachers. Semi-structured questionnaires and interview guides were used to obtain primary data. Thematic content analysis was used to examine qualitative data, while quantitative data was analyzed using descriptive and inferential statistics. The association between free primary education characteristics and pupils' academic performance was determined using correlation analysis. multiple regression model was used to determine the influence of independent variables on the dependent variable. Reliability results indicated Cronbach's alpha values greater than 0.7, implying that the questionnaire was reliable. The findings also indicated that teaching learning resources, teaching-learning methods, and teachers' perception had a positive and significance influence on pupils performance in public primary schools. Further, pupil teacher ratio had a negative and significant influence on pupils' performance. The study concluded that the most significant predictor of pupils' performance was teaching-learning resources, followed by teaching-learning methods, followed by teachers' perception, and lastly pupil-teacher ratio. The study recommended the need for the government of Kenya through the Ministry of Education to provide sufficient teaching-learning resources to public primary schools; to provide sufficient teachers to public primary schools; to strengthen teaching-learning methods in public primary schools. In particular, key emphasis should be on subject matter, learner's assignment, and assessment test. In particular, the focus should be on the following aspects: teachers class attendance, teachers' responsiveness, syllabus coverage and overcrowded classrooms. This study makes a significant contribution towards policy, practice and theory in the field of education leadership and management.

DEDICATION	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	v
ABSTRACT	vi
TABLE OF CONTENTS	'ii
LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	X
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS	xi
CHAPTER ONE	1
INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background of the Study	.1
1.2 Statement of the Problem	.4
1.3 Purpose of the Study	.5
1.4 Objectives of the Study	.5
1.5 Research Hypothesis	.6
1.6 Significance of the Study	.6
1.7 Scope of the Study	.7
1.8 Limitations of the Study	.7
1.9 Assumptions of the Study	.8
1.10 Operational Definition of Terms	.9
CHAPTER TWO 1	10
LITERATURE REVIEW 1	10
2.1 Introduction	10
2.2 Literature Review	10
2.3 Theoretical Framework	41
2.4 Conceptual Framework	15
CHAPTER THREE	17
RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	17
3.1 Introduction4	17
3.2 Study Location	17
3.3 Research Design	17
3.4 Target Population	18
3.5 Sample Size and Sampling Technique	18

TABLE OF CONTENTS

3.6 Research Instruments
3.7 Pilot of the Research Instruments
3.8 Data Collection Procedure51
3.9 Data Analysis
3.10 Ethical Considerations
CHAPTER FOUR
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION
4.1 Introduction
4.2 Reliability Test
4.3 Response Rate
4.4 Background Information Results
4.5 Teaching Learning resources and Pupils' Performance
4.6 Pupil Teacher Ratio and Pupils' Performance61
4.7 Teaching-Learning Methods and Pupils' Performance63
4.8 Teachers Perception and Pupils' Performance
4.9 Pupils' Academic Performance68
4.10 Correlation Analysis
4.11 Multiple Regression Model72
CHAPTER FIVE
SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS
5.1 Introduction
5.2 Summary of Major Findings82
5.3 Conclusion
5.4 Recommendations
5.5 Suggestions for Further Research88
REFERENCES
APPENDICES

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1: Mean standard KCPE score between 2010 and 2019 in Laikipia West Sub-County
primary schools
Table 3.1: Sample Size49
Table 4.1: Reliability Results
Table 4.2: Background Information Results 57
Table 4.3: Descriptive Statistics on Teaching learning resources 59
Table 4.4: Descriptive Statistics on Pupil Teacher Ratio 61
Table 4.5: Descriptive Statistics on Teaching-learning methods
Table 4.6: Descriptive Statistics on Teachers Perception 66
Table 4.7: Descriptive Statistics on Pupils' Academic Performance 68
Table 4.8: Correlation Results 70
Table 4.9: Normality Test Results
Table 4.10: Multicollinearity Test Results 77
Table 4.11: Levene's Test of Equality of Error
Table 4.12: Model Summary; Free Primary Education and Pupils' Academic Performance 788
Table 4.13: ANOVA; Free Primary Education and Pupils' Academic Performance
Table 4.14: Regression Coefficients; Free Primary Education and Pupils' Academic Performance

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1: Conceptual Framework	. 46
Figure 4.1: Linearity Test Plots	.75

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

- **CBT**: Cognitive Behavioral Theory
- **EFA**: Education for All
- **FPR**: Free Primary Education
- GOK: Government of Kenya
- **IEBC:** Independent Electoral and Boundaries Commission
- KCPE: Kenya Certificate of Primary Education
- MDGs: Millennium Development Goals
- MOST: Ministry of Education Science and Technology
- NACOSTI: National Commission for Science, Technology and Innovation
- NARC: National Rainbow Coalition
- SATI: Systematic Approach to Instruction Theory
- SPSS: Statistical Package for Social Science
- TLR: Teaching and Learning Resources
- **UNESCO:** United Nations Educational Social Cultural Organization
- USAID: United States Aid

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background of the Study

One of the most significant forces behind economic progress is commonly mentioned as education. To achieve the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) of universal basic education by 2015, developing countries have made large investments in cooperation with donors and Non-Governmental Organizations (NGOs). The development of knowledge, skills, and attitudes that are necessary for human survival is the focus of education. Individuals and communities can benefit from education in terms of economic and social growth. Education can contribute up to 20% of income development, according to the United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization (United Nation Education is essential for upholding democracy, enhancing health, increasing per capita income, and protecting the environment (United State Agency of International Development [USAID], 2016). In this sense, education can be viewed as an investment in human abilities that aids in the promotion of economic growth, productivity, national and social development, and the reduction of social inequality.

According to the 1948-adopted Universal Declaration of Human Rights, every child has the right to an education. 2018 (UNESCO). Such international conferences on the right to education have taken place all around the world. The World Forum and the World Conference on Education for All (EFA), both held in Dakar, Senegal in 2000 and Jomtien, Thailand, respectively. The Millennium Development Goals aim to ensure that all children in the world enjoy free primary education by 2015/2018. In African countries, education is valued, but it faces numerous obstacles due to a lack of resources, and it is therefore not totally free. The government encourages citizens to have access to free basic education. NGOs support free basic education to make it accessible to those in need.

Globally, free primary education has been a significant milestone for the economic development of many democracies particularly in America and Europe (UNESCO, 2018). In the United States of America, pupils must attend elementary schooling which is provided free of charge by the government. The government ensures that effective policies are put in place to enhance the smooth implementation and sustainability of free elementary education programmes in conformation to the international standards (Brown, 2016). According to UNESCO (2018), free primary education in Finland has proved effective in terms of its implementation and unwavering government support. These efforts, according to Brown (2016) have resulted in a tremendous improvement in pupils' enrolment as well as helping in mitigation of the system's inequalities in education access. Some African countries, such as Nigeria and Senegal, were among the first to implement free elementary education, with varying degrees of success, obstacles, and challenges. According to Ministry of Education Science and Technology (MOEST, 2015) implementation of free primary education in efforts towards achieving significant results has been faced by financial and policy challenges. This has greatly affected the achievement of quality education with literacy levels still below the international standard (MOEST, 2015). The Narc government implemented Free Primary Education (FPE) in Kenya in 2003 to fulfill a 2002 campaign pledge, after the Kenyan government accepted and signed off on the suggestions in the above-mentioned international convention. He also sees universal basic education as a development strategy. According to UNESCO's 2018 Policy Summary, free primary education has enabled 1.3 million children from poor backgrounds in Kenya to benefit from basic education for the first time by eliminating tuition fees (Ministry of Education, 2019).

The FPE policy was accompanied by a ban on school fees. The government imposes several requirements for filing taxes, which are very complicated. Basically, both at the school level and at the Ministry of Education headquarters, there are severe issues such as delayed funding, dropouts, and malpractice instances (UNESCO, 2018). According to UNESCO (2018), the implementation of the FPE policy had significant effects on pupils' enrolment and KCPE performance of public primary school pupils in Kenya.

According to Morumbwa (2016), enrollment increased from 6,314,726 to 7,614,326 in 2003. Since 2007, the national average result in the Kenya Basic Education Certificate (KCPE) exam has reached 245,500 points, up from 5,200 in 2007. (Ministry of Education, 2019). Of the 77,614 students who took the KCPE exam in 2011, only 48.28% scored 250 or more and only 5,806 or 0.75% scored more than 400 (Obasi, 2016). The situation in Laikipia West sub-county public primary schools is below the national KCPE standard mean score as indicated in Table 1 below:

Table 1.1

Serial No.	Year	Mean standard KCPE score
1	2010	229.99
2	2011	232.06
3	2012	225.77
4	2013	228.87
5	2014	233.74
6	2015	230.15
7	2016	231.44
8	2017	222.42
9	2018	226.48
10	2019	226.79
	Overall mean score	228.77

Mean standard KCPE score between 2010 and 2019 in Laikipia West Sub-County primary schools

(Source: Sub- County Director of Education Office, Laikipia West, 2020)

The overall standard mean score over a period of 10 years remained at 228.77 indicative of poor academic performance. This is because the mean of 228.77 is far much below the average mean of 250 marks out of a possible total of 500 marks. The overall mean score in 10 years in Laikipia

West sub-county primary schools was far below the national standard mean score of 245.5 between 2005 and 2007. This poor performance in the Laikipia West sub-county may be attributed to large classes evident in the sub-county which has led to high pupil-teacher ratios. The implication is that learner-teacher contact is reduced and therefore effective learning and teaching are hindered. Another challenge arising from large classes of up to 70 pupils per class is overcrowding which leads to challenges of class management contributing to indiscipline. Indiscipline has a negative impact on effective learning hence poor academic achievement. The large classes also contribute to stress on the part of the teacher leading to low morale and ill-health further causing poor academic performance. The large classes also pose the challenge of inequitable sharing of learning/teaching resources such as textbooks and teaching aids, further contributing to ineffective teaching and learning leading to diminished academic performance. In itself, poor academic performance affects learners, school administrators, parents and teachers leading to further low

morale leading to a vicious cycle of poor academic performance.

1.2 Statement of the Problem

The Kenyan government is claimed to have reaped numerous benefits from the adoption of FPE in 2003. According to (UNESCO, 2018), FPE has enabled 1.3 million children from low-income families to attend school for the first time. FPE does not urge parents or the community to establish new schools; instead, existing facilities must be utilized (Kemendiknas, 2019). Despite the many advantages of FPE, it also poses a number of obstacles at the same time, including funding, working conditions, textbooks, teaching and learning methods, and the proportion of student teachers who are partially supported by public study.

In addition, enrollment as a result of FPE increased from 5.9 million students to 7.6 million students, an increase of 29% between 2002 and 2003 (UNESCO, 2018). In 2011, 9.6 million

4

students were enrolled, an increase of 63% over nine years (Republic of Kenya, 2011). The increase in the number of students causes problems in administering the KCPE exam, including high teacher-student ratios, student-textbook ratios, and physical facilities. For example, between 2010 and 2013, the average national standard score on the KCPE test was 245.5 out of 500 points at the national level (Republic of Kenya, 2014). Of the 77,614 people who took the KCPE exam in 2013, only 48.28% scored 250 points, while 5,806 had more than 400 points.

The trend in dismal academic performance occasioned by FPE particularly due to increasing enrolment in primary schools contradicts the very reason envisaged by the FPE system. There are limited studies on how FPE has contributed to academic performance by primary schools pupils. It is imperative to find out the underline aspects that have contributed to this trend in academic performance. As a result, this study aimed to fill the gap by investigating the influence of FPE on pupils' academic performance in public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-county.

1.3 Purpose of the Study

The purpose of the study was to examine the extent to which free primary education influence the academic performance of pupils' in Lakipia West Sub-County.

1.4 Objectives of the Study

The study was guided by the following objectives:

- To assess the influence of teaching-learning resources on academic performance among public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County
- To determine the influence of pupil-teacher ratio on academic performance among public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County
- iii. To evaluate the influence of teaching-learning methods on academic performance among public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County

 iv. To find out the influence of teachers perception on academic performance among public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County

1.5 Research Hypothesis

- i. **HO1:** Teaching learning resources have no statistically significant influence on academic performance among pupils in public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County
- ii. **HO₂:** Pupil-teacher ratio has no statistically significant influence on academic performance among pupils in public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County
- iii. **HO3:** Teaching-learning methods have no statistically significant influence on academic performance among pupils in public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County
- iv. **HO4:** Teachers' perception has no statistically significant influence on academic performance among pupils in public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County

1.6 Significance of the Study

Free Primary Education system in Kenya play a pivotal role in influencing government policies and decisions under the ministry of education. These regulations have a substantial impact on students' academic achievement in public primary schools. The study's main focus will be on the influence of free primary education on public primary school academic performance in Laikipia West Sub-County. The findings from this research will be used by the teacher's service commission to inform their policies of teacher employment, staffing and recruitment in public primary schools in Kenya. The findings will bring new knowledge on the impact of FPE in the Laikipia West sub-county. This knowledge can be used by future researchers in finding solutions to future education-related problems. The negative and positive impacts of FPE are significant in that they can be used to re-evaluate, re-design and re-implement the FPE policy. The significance of the study lies in the fact that it can be utilized to inform Ministry of Education regulations on the impact of FPE on students' academic performance. The results of the study can also be used by the ministry of education to enable policy changes and to address the needs of students and instructors in Kenya's public primary schools. Education stakeholders in the Laikipia West sub-county can use the findings to inform interventions to the challenge posed by high pupil enrolments in public primary schools within their areas of jurisdiction. Policies guided by research findings have high chances of success. Development partners can also use the findings to understand the impacts of FPE in specific localities in the country. Each locality has unique issues specific to it thus interventions may vary from locality to locality.

1.7 Scope of the Study

This study examined the influence of free primary education on pupils' academic performance in public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County, Laikipia County. It focused on four aspects of primary education: teaching-learning resources, pupil-teacher ratio, teaching-learning methods, and teachers' perception. This study focused on 490 public primary school teachers in West Laikipia District to provide an overview of FPE's contribution to student academic achievement in the region. Finally, the study was conducted between January to July 2022.

1.8 Limitations of the Study

Best and Kahn (2008) define constraints as external factors that restrict the applicability of study findings in different contexts. In Kenya, there are many public primary schools; however this study was limited to Laikipia West Sub County public schools. The study did not cover all the primary schools in Kenya in due to limited finances and duration of study. In order to overcome the limitation of time and finances to cover the entire population, the researcher focused on a sample. When conducting the research, the following restrictions were taken into account. This study was

limited by the fact that some intermediate variables could not be controlled. For example, directors' capacities may differ due to experience and education. To mitigate this limitation, the researcher randomly interviewed head teachers of the chosen public primary schools notwithstanding their experience and training backgrounds. In addition, some participants were reluctant to fill out the questionnaire for fear of becoming a victim. To reduce this limitation, the researcher informed the respondent about the importance of filling out the questionnaire.

1.9 Assumptions of the Study

The assumptions of the study are:

- That the influence of FPE on student performance in public primary schools in the Laikipia West Sub county, all of the teachers questioned in the chosen schools would be able to offer pertinent information about FPE.
- 2. That all participants would answer the questionnaire truthfully and honestly,
- 3. That all public primary schools in West Laikipia District receive free basic education funds.

1.10 Operational Definition of Terms

This section provides definitions of terms and concepts used in the study.

Enrolment:	It refers to the number of kids enrolled in public elementary
	schools in a class.
Free Primary Education:	All children are entitled to a free primary school education,
	which is funded by the government.
Performance:	Refers to the KCPE mean scores.
Pupil-teacher ratio:	The number of primary school students divided by the number
	of primary school instructors engaged by the school.
Teaching-learning methods:	This term refers to the concepts and practices that teachers
	employ to help students learn.
Teaching and learning resources: Teachers, instructional materials, classrooms, and	
	recreational facilities are examples of assets or tools that
	promote effective teaching.

CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Introduction

This chapter introduced the literature review which was based on each of the variables and the past studies conducted on them. It presented the theoretical review based on the various variables i.e. independent and dependent variables. The conceptual framework was also included, which graphically displayed the relationship between the independent and dependent variables.

2.2 Literature Review

This section explored the literature of the previous research work with respect to the study variables. Studies relating to free primary education and pupils' academic performance were reviewed to determine the research gaps inherent in the study.

2.2.1 Teaching Learning Resources and Performance

According to Chunk (2019), teaching and learning resources include, among other things, teachers and teaching supplies including classrooms, teacher manuals and powders, chalk scraps, sanitary facilities, and entertainment facilities. These resources promote effective instruction. According to Kenya's MOEST (2019), FPE has enabled 1.5 million primary school kids to attend for the first time. Despite the increase in school enrollment, the Ministry of Education continues to receive insufficient funds from the government to purchase enough textbooks, teacher manuals, vacuum cleaners and others, resulting in limited resources. According to Chunk (2019), the amount of textbooks per pupil remains high - 4:1, compared to a global standard of 2:1. The majority of purchased materials are lost within a short period of time, forcing pupils to disregard them. The shortage of these vital resources has compromised affecting teaching and learning activities leading to low quality of educations in schools as well as poor academic performance.

Apart from the government paying for extra teachers to be deployed in various schools particularly those perceived to be less desirable due to either poor performance or accessibility issues, the government resulted in persuading teachers to take a post in those areas. Teachers and school authorities resisted the change, resulting in more staff shortages in low-income schools since teachers were hesitant to go to regions where parents couldn't afford private tuition after school hours (Chunk, 2019). Romiszowski (2018) finds that unless governments identify and implement effective policies for teaching and assessment in schools, student performance will not improve. According to Sifuna (2015), the teacher's role is as dynamic as the society in which he or she lives. According to Sifuna (2015), teachers need to have a supportive environment and resources in order to work effectively. Kinyanjui (2017) conducted research on the differences in the distribution of educational resources between regions of Kenya and in the separation between rural and urban areas. The study found that although national education assistance is provided equally by central organizations such as the Teacher Services Commission and the Kenya School Equipment Scheme; Rich areas like cities can also subsidize their schools. Rural areas need to build school facilities, pay for transportation, and are more vulnerable to environmental disasters. The Consortium for Access to Education, Transition and Justice Studies reviewed the literature on free primary education in East Africa. The monograph examines the history of education policy in Kenya, Tanzania and Uganda and compares their efforts to implement FPE since independence. In Kenya, the review of literature on FPE revealed that their issue in implementation and sustainability has been a major challenge in meeting the required goals in line with the international standards. Since the NARC government implemented the FPE policy in 2003, it has caused major

education. Sifuna (2015) noted that FPE was received with mixed feelings from various walks of

problems in the public primary school system in Kenya and a decline in the quality of basic

life. While some people express feelings of discontent, failure, and betrayal, among others, many low-income people see this as a God-given opportunity. Faced with many concerns, Sifuna (2015) finds that little progress has been made in the dissemination of learning itself and the adequacy of teaching materials for school-wide teaching.

Teaching materials are instructional aids used in classroom instruction and learning. In a study by Naisianoi et al. (2020) the researchers looked at how instructional materials availability affected students' growth in senior elementary schools in the Karunga region of the Gilgil District. The results of the study showed students from public schools did not achieve the achievements of their peers in private elementary schools due to lack of resources and teachers. These materials equip students with basic knowledge and skills, as well as the ability to develop and support institutions and equip students with problem-solving skills and critical analytical thinking (Saad & Sankaran, 2020). The availability of teaching materials is very important and brings positive changes to the academic development of students. Inadequate teaching materials lead to abstract instruction and exhibit passive learning, which ultimately leads to poor performance (Wambua & Murungi, 2018). Livumbaze and Achoka (2017) in their research analyzing the effect of teaching and learning resources on student achievement in public secondary schools in Hamisi District, Kenya, found that teaching and learning success was related to the availability of instruction and learning resources. According to the study, underperforming schools need to be provided with adequate learning and teaching resources to improve their performance. This study also identifies the importance of adequate libraries, classrooms and laboratories to improve the performance of public schools, Laikipia Barat District, Laikipia District. The study found that some schools had turned classrooms into laboratories exacerbating three science subjects, even in small spaces. The lack of internet connection in schools hampers the online teaching and learning process.

Tobister (2017) conducted research on the variables affecting students' ability to succeed in school and earn a Certificate in Basic Education in the Kenyan districts of Kiminini and Transnzoia. The study's findings showed that student performance in public primary schools was influenced by the availability of teaching and learning resources such computer and science labs, libraries, classrooms, workshops, agricultural buildings and structures, farms, and playgrounds. According to the study, teachers and other staff care about the maintenance of school physical facilities because the availability of these resources and facilities in the school environment affects the teaching and learning process and student performance. Lack of adequate facilities, especially desks, classrooms, toilets, dormitories and teacher accommodation, reduces the quality of teaching. In addition, low salaries and poor working conditions for teachers affect their ability and motivation to provide quality educational facilities, which are strategic factors in the functioning of the organization. A good learning environment is associated with smaller class sizes, which can result in better academic performance and better access to resources. Clean air, good lighting, small, quiet, comfortable and safe are one of the indicators of a good learning environment, which is important for student academic achievement. There is a better correlation between textbooks and academic performance than other learning/teaching resources identified as teaching materials. In the same note, Musyoka (2018) in a study of academic factors influencing Kenyan students' performance at the Katiani sub-district high school diploma, found that educational resources, particularly radio, television, computers and projectors, in public schools and teacher shortages were inadequate. This can be explained by the fact that nothing changed right away when the teacher was kicked out of the school. The investigation also uncovered insufficient lab and library facilities, among other things. Finally, this study found that principals rarely reviewed teachers' lesson notes and rarely assessed teachers. Additional research results show that learning resources,

teacher adequacy, physical facilities, and the supervisory role of school principals are positively and significantly related to student achievement.

Julius and Ronald (2021) also did a study on the impact of educational resources on the performance of public high school students in West Transmara sub-district, Narok County, Kenya, which showed that educational resources affected the performance of public high school students in Transmara. "District, Kenya." Financial resources through community grants, early tuition payments, scholarships, and district development funds improve school administration, influence student performance, and thereby improve student performance. Students perform better when they have access to learning resources including suitable textbooks, writing prompts, e-learning tools like radio, tape recorders, television, and video recorders, as well as teacher manuals and instructions. Similar to this, physical features like well-equipped classrooms, libraries, labs, and special areas like clinics, staff rooms, dorm rooms, kitchens, cafeterias, and restrooms improve student performance. Human resources, including adequate and well-trained teachers and non-teacher staff, enhance student performance.

The use of appropriate training facilities at all levels, including equipment and staff, improves the quality and relevance of skills taught to students, according to Otieno and Ochieng (2020), who examined the effects of the 100 percent transition policy on public secondary schools in Machakos County, Kenya. Classrooms, labs, libraries, playgrounds, and textbooks are just a few examples of teaching and learning tools. In fact, physical assets play a significant role in fostering an environment that supports efficient teaching and learning. School implementation is related to the state of educational resources in schools. The distribution of teaching and learning resources in public schools is not balanced. Schools whose student population is dominated by students from

modest backgrounds tend to underperform due to insufficient teaching and learning resources due to high student-teacher ratios.

The impact of instructional materials on the academic performance of physics students in Sokoto, Nigeria, is the subject of a research study carried out by (Abubakar, 2020). The results of the study indicate that learning resources are needed to improve student achievement. The survey found that public schools have inadequate educational resources, leading to poor student performance. Training resources include textbooks, internet facilities, videos, CDs, projectors, and other electronic and print media. The availability of these educational resources needs to be increased in public schools, and free access to these resources needs to be increased.

A study conducted by Galle et al. (2020) on the impact of teaching materials on the academic performance of quantitative economics students at Northwestern State Colleges of Education, Nigeria. The survey results showed that the majority of respondents agree that they do not always use teaching materials during their lectures. There are no teaching materials in their school. The results also show that teaching materials have a significant effect on students' academic achievement. Appropriate training resources should be used to improve school performance. This means that teaching materials improve the academic achievement of quantitative economics students. Based on the findings of this study, Higher Education stakeholders should take appropriate steps to force all teachers to use teaching materials during the teaching and learning process and provide teaching materials to all universities in Nigeria to reduce student poverty to a minimum.

Kimalel (2019) conducted a study on the impact of educational resources on children's performance in early literacy in public preschools in Kandui District, Bungoma County, Kenya and found that educational resources are human and non-human materials. These resources are

used by teachers in teaching and learning situations to enrich their teaching and achieve their goals. The training resources are divided into four main categories such as Visual Aids, Audio Aids, Audio-Visual Aids and Specific Materials.

In selected secondary schools in Mbarara Town, Mbarara District, Uganda, Amon (2017) performed study on learning resources and student academic achievement. n After discovering the research intent, 200 respondents received a questionnaire that provided data on the role of learning resources and the skills covered. Interviews were conducted with high school students, respondents as well as principals and classroom teachers on questions related to the topic. The study found that insufficient and insufficient use of resources was therefore the reason for student disability and poor performance.

According to Kimalel (2019), visual aids require the use of visual aids such as tables, photos, and flashcards. Audio-visual devices produce sound and images such as televisions and videocassettes. Hearing aids that produce sound such as radios, tape recorders, and concrete materials that can be manipulated such as letter and word quotes, picture quotes, books, models, etc. Learning resources are used to enhance learning, stimulate curiosity and create an atmosphere that engages all of the learner's senses. Thus, learners are fully immersed in the learning activities of their structured learning environment and make a difference in the achievement of learners in different preschools. The availability of teaching materials has a strong positive relationship with the development of students' literacy skills. This indicates that the availability of educational materials allows preschool children to acquire more reading skills than writing skills.

2.2.2 Pupil-Teacher Ratio and Performance

The number of primary school students divided by the number of primary school teachers yields the student-teacher ratio. Learning basically describes the number of students visited by a teacher in the classroom. According to Chunk (2019), on the differences in FPE systems, the increase in enrollment as a result of FPE has had a major impact on schools. Between 2003 and 2008, primary school enrolment increased by 2.3 million kids, a 39 percent rise across the country. This has put a lot of pressure on the schools' ability to provide high-quality education. First, a significant teacher shortage has resulted from the flood of children into public primary schools. The number of teachers increases in tandem with the number of students. According to the government, no additional instructors should be hired. As a result, teachers are feeling overburdened. Sessions typically include 40 to 50 students, although some classes have as many as 100. According to Chunk (2019), there are not enough instructors, with a student-teacher ratio of 50:1 compared to the international standard of 40:1. Of rural places, class sizes have tripled as a result of a surge in older students finishing their school in 2003 who had previously missed out.

According to MOEST (2019), free primary education saw an influx in the number of new pupils' enrollment leading to congestion in classes and tremendous teachers' shortage in public primary schools. The World Bank promotes striking a better balance between increasing basic education enrollment and preserving minimal standards. He points out that many of the many young people who leave primary school do not know enough to read and write and become productive members of society, citing the cases of Morocco and Namibia as examples (WDR, 2007). Overcrowding, uneven PTR, and bad infrastructure have all had an affect on education quality, with some parents opting to send their children to private schools where teachers are available and quality teaching and learning is offered (Tooley, 2014). Chunk (2019) argues that the main idea behind FPE is to provide opportunities and access to classroom corridors for disadvantaged students.

However, the policy came with increased challenges occasioned by overcrowding in classrooms. Due to the enormous number of children to supervise, several public elementary schools, particularly in rural regions, adopt a multi-shift system. Some pupils arrived in the morning, while others arrived in the afternoon. Because of the high number of students, teachers are less able to respond to individual student needs. Additionally, the learner teacher contact is reduced and therefore effective learning and teaching is hindered. Teachers also conduct lessons in a lecture format that does not attract the attention of elementary school children, less homework given because the teacher cannot proofread more than 70 reports each night. The quality of education has declined as teachers work too hard and fail to give the attention they need to students on an individual level, resulting in poor performance at KCPE.

2.2.3 Teaching-learning methods and Performance

Teaching and learning refers to the principles, strategies, and methods used by teachers to enable students to learn and present. The strategy used by the teacher is determined partly by the subjects being taught and partly by the nature of the learner. Therefore, the instructional services provided by teachers in the classroom play an important role in students' academic achievement as well as in their cognitive development. Chunk (2019) says FPE registrations are flooding school facilities. When the program starts, the number of students increases, but the number of classrooms does not increase as the number of students increases. Classrooms built to comfortably accommodate 30 students are now three times that number. Due to a scarcity of desks, two or three pupils are forced to snuggle together on little stools. Even during class, the learning atmosphere becomes unsettling, which irritates students and teachers.

Research conducted by Brown (2006) provides premise and experiential support for the usefulness of holistic teaching and learning methods, with many Kenyan parents placing great emphasis on quality learning and education as the only way to escape the poor academic performance of their students. . free students. In today's schools, the trend is that teaching and learning methods promote

quality education because they inspire creativity and reflection. Efforts are increasingly being made to develop teaching methods that take into account not only the nature of the subject matter but also the way students learn. When teachers teach classes in lecture format and students are given less homework, then the quality of education is really compromised, which leads to poor results at KCPE.

Several African countries had tried and failed to implement free education policies before Kenya, with varying degrees of success, difficulties, and challenges. Several countries have questioned the concept, branding Nigeria as a promising education system that has yet to be realized due to the difficulties they encounter in obtaining quality education in accordance with international standards (MOEST, 2019). Nigeria introduced and exported FPE from the 1950s and in 2003 the literacy rate was still 55% (Ajetomobi & Anyanwale, 2005). In the subject of education, the EFA World Conference in Jomtien, Thailand, and the Dakar Conference in Senegal (2000) ushered in a paradigm change. Barriers to education include teaching methods, educational quality, and gender inequality (Boyle et al., 2002).

In Kenya, school enrollment rates increased by 90% following the introduction of the FPE policy in 2003 (MOEST, 2019). Although the government continues to mention this success rate, the dropout rate in public primary schools has increased due to the unsupportive learning environment and teaching and learning methods offered in public primary schools (Ayieke, 2005). While governments are praised for expanding enrollment and school availability, the EFA Global Monitor indicates that education quality is inadequate in most countries, with student-to-textbook ratios as high as 2:1 in some schools (MOEST, 2019). Kenya is located in Sub-Saharan Africa. Given the World Bank's focus on achieving a better balance between boosting basic education enrollment and preserving minimum standards. The researcher is interested in finding out whether the minimum standard based on teaching-learning methods for pupils' performance has been met in Laikipia West Sub- County.

Ndayisaba (2017), when examining the relationship between student-teacher ratios and student academic achievement in public primary schools in Kikukiro District, Rwanda, found that classes with low student-teacher ratios tended to perform better than classes with high student-teacher ratios. Small courses can be utilized as a predictor of student success in addition to being used to boost the likelihood of academic success. This study shows that a student whose class has a low student-teacher ratio has a high chance of doing well. The results of this study indicate that student achievement increases with decreasing class size. The study's findings suggest that smaller classes are related with higher educational quality and more optimistic views. This study also draws conclusions about the relationship between class size and student performance and student behavior. The results showed that school performance in smaller classes (lower student-teacher ratios) improved significantly in regular classes.

The main result of the research according to Ndayisaba (2017) is that the utility of small classes is greater than large classes on all achievement tests in all subjects as well as on achievement tests related to norms and criteria. According to a different study, teachers spend less time managing students and more time actually teaching in small classrooms. According to other studies, teachers' attitudes improve in small courses. Smaller classes had fewer interruptions and disciplinary issues, which was a conclusion that was supported by additional research.

According to Waita and Mulei (2022), student-teacher ratio and its impact on academic achievement in public elementary schools in the Central Division, Machakos County, Kenya. The research design for this study was a survey-descriptive design. Data from the survey was gathered via questionnaires. To ascertain whether PTR necessitates conducting a national audit, the study

was conducted using simple regression. According to this study's findings, PTR and productivity are negatively correlated, meaning that as PTR rises, so does productivity and vice versa.

Simiyu (2019) investigated the difficulties associated with implementing free basic education in primary schools in Kenya's Bungoma District. This study employed a descriptive survey design. Principals, instructors, school boards, and students are the target demographics. Sample stratification was done to get a more representative sample because there are rural and urban schools. Questionnaires, interview strategies, document analysis, and monitoring plans are all examples of data gathering instruments. The study found that the trend of increasing enrollment since FPE began in 2003 has led to overcrowded classes and the opening of more schools. He also found that there were not enough teachers to cope with the growing number of students.

In Makueni County, Kenya, Gathumbi et al. (2017) conducted a study on the effect of studentteacher ratios on the performance of Basic Education Certificates. The poll results indicate that the majority of principals and teachers feel that there are not enough teachers in their schools. High student-teacher ratios in classrooms are also said to have an impact on academic performance. The limited number of teachers who are still available encounter significant challenges when attempting to manage overcrowded classes in the presence of such sets. This record high results in low efficiency in schools, which is one of the main causes of the poor quality of education provided in many elementary schools in developing countries. In schools with limited resources, a high student-teacher ratio brought on by crammed classrooms affects the standard of instruction.

In South Kakamega District, Kakamega District, Kenya, Mulinya and Orodho (2017) performed study on the Free Basic Education Policy: Coping Strategies in Public Elementary Schools. The study's descriptive design was chosen. A total of 117 people made up the sample, including 23 principals, 92 teachers, and a Ministry of Education worker who worked in the study area.

Questionnaires and interview procedures were the most crucial survey tools. The fundamental conclusion of this study is that, despite the fact that the policy of free primary education has resulted in an exponential rise in the number of primary school students, the amount of material and human resources that can be used to deal with this number is insufficient.

Malitano and Chobomba (2019) conducted a study to assess the impact of student-teacher ratios on the performance of prospective 9th graders: a case study in selected Ndola schools. From their research, they found that mission schools and private schools had better staffing rates than public schools. As a result, well-resourced schools perform better academically. Most public schools are understaffed and have inadequate infrastructure at all levels of our education system. The consequences of today's high student-teacher ratio are low individual student attention, lack of textbooks and other teaching materials, inability to conduct practical classes effectively, lack of student attention due to distraction from multiple classmates, and much more. The study also shows that public schools have the highest teacher-student ratios and therefore do not have enough time for student-teacher contact. This has a negative impact on students, especially children who are slow learners. The results showed that there was a significant relationship between the teacherstudent ratio and student academic achievement. Students who receive poor grades are most impacted when students in large classrooms receive too much general instruction from the teacher rather than individualized attention on assignments. The significance of student-teacher ratios and class sizes is becoming more and more obvious as public schools across the nation continue to be impacted by government budget cuts.

According to Kalemba and Mulauzi's (2020), investigation of the effects of high student-teacher ratios on the caliber of the mathematics teaching and learning process in a sample of public secondary schools in Lusaka Regency, Zambia. The outcomes demonstrated that the teaching and

learning process was impacted by the teacher-student connection. The results of Kalemba and Mulauzi (2020) show that class size affects the teaching and learning process. This study identified the impact of the student-teacher relationship on the learning process, including the following; The first is the teacher's inability to give individual attention to students in the classroom. This leads to poor student development and ultimately poor performance.

Another effect of the high student-teacher ratio, according to a study by Kalemba and Mulauzi (2020), is the inability of teachers to assess student performance. Therefore, student progress is unknown and therefore tends to result in poor performance. Regarding class size and discipline, the study found that maintaining discipline in larger classes was difficult. Indiscipline has a negative impact on student achievement. Regarding the ratio of students and teachers and classroom space for mobility, the results show that due to the large class size, there is not enough space in the classroom for teacher and student mobility for group activities and therefore for supervision of group activities to be poor, which has an impact negative on the quality of learning. Insufficient resources for teaching and learning are identified as a significant issue influenced by big class size in relation to class size and teacher burnout, according to teacher respondents in particular.

Oluyinka et al. (2021) did a study on the statistical treatment of student-teacher ratios as a measure of academic competence in mathematics for African development. The findings demonstrate that student-teacher ratios and students' math ability differ significantly, and this can always be one of the determinants of the trustworthy performance of private secondary schools in comparison to public secondary schools. The survey results show that when class sizes are small and the number of students in one class is much smaller, it is very easy for teachers to assess, teach, and receive positive feedback. Most experts believe that lower student-teacher ratios produce better results than higher student-teacher ratios. In many cases, a higher student-teacher ratio results in higher scores. In general, the teacher-student relationship plays an important role in improving the quality of education. Actual class size may be much larger than the student/teacher ratio due to teacher absenteeism and specialization.

In a study by Ancho et al. (2021) that looked at student-teacher ratios as a factor in kids' reading achievement, it was discovered that nations with lower student-teacher ratios outperformed nations with greater student-teacher ratios. In the PISA reading test, Singapore, Malaysia, and Brunei Darussalam received scores of 408 to 549 points per teacher, whereas Thailand, Indonesia, and the Philippines had scores of 340 to 36 students per instructor, or -393 points. According to the context provided in this study, the demographics of the students in the classroom unquestionably have a favorable influence on the teaching and learning process, particularly reading.

Bello et al. (2019) studied the effect of Student-Teacher Ratio on Student Achievement in State Elementary Schools in Odeda District, Ogun. Results of research on student academic achievement and student-teacher ratios in Ogun public elementary schools suggest that the education system needs to be adapted to the general student ratio in the public school system. This requires an immediate focus by education planners and government politicians on improving the quality of education by increasing student-teacher ratios in all schools. Therefore, this study recommends, among other things, that the government immediately recruits more teachers through the Ministry of Education to reduce the weekly workload of teachers and subsequently lead to higher productivity of students' academic achievement.

The findings of a study by Obiakor and Oguejioffor (2020) which examined the effect of class size on secondary school students' academic performance in North Enugu Province of North Enugu, Nigeria, show that the size of the class has a negative impact on academic performance. High student-teacher ratio leads to poor teaching methods. A high student-teacher ratio will also lead to excessive use of insufficient teaching materials, because it is very difficult for teachers to show teaching materials to students, especially those who are late.

The solution to the high proportion of students and teachers with inadequate teaching materials, according to Obiakor and Oguejioffor (2020), is for politicians to prioritize increasing funding for secondary education in Nigeria. Secondary school academic performance issues will be helped by additional financing, and school administrators and regulators need to pay closer attention to the number of pupils in each class to prevent overcrowding. The study came to the conclusion that large class sizes are associated with poor academic performance, ineffective teaching strategies, and inappropriate use of instructional materials because it is very challenging for teachers to demonstrate learning materials to students, especially those in the back. Also, most of the time, the teacher is tired after walking around the class, and the management of the class is always difficult.

According to Saavedra (2019), free primary education has seen an influx of new students enrolled, leading to class overcrowding and a huge shortage of teachers in public primary schools. The World Bank is promoting a better balance between increasing primary school enrollment and maintaining minimum standards. Saavedra (2019) using the examples of Namibia and Morocco, demonstrates that many children who graduate from primary school lack the knowledge necessary to become literate and contributing members of society. Because of overcrowding, unequal PTR, and inadequate facilities, some parents choose to enroll their children in private schools where teachers are more readily available and where high-quality instruction is offered. Based on the
research results, the main idea behind FPE is to provide opportunities and classroom corridor access for underprivileged students.

Teaching approaches are the key to enhancing student performance, according a research study by Ganyaupfu (2013), that focused on teaching strategies and students' academic achievement. Teachers must employ the most effective teaching strategies for the particular goals and results at the level in order to enable the transfer of knowledge. Additionally, since every learner interprets and responds to questions differently, teaching approaches work best when they are tailored to the needs of the student. A teacher-centered approach is one that will be implemented in the classroom. By using this approach, teachers merely impart knowledge to the class without encouraging student engagement. The least practical, more theoretical, and easiest to memorize strategy is this one. A student-centered approach to instruction is another technique. Many academics are increasingly employing more adaptable and student-centered techniques to encourage active learning as a result of the development of the concept of discovery learning. To promote curiosity, critical thinking, analytical inquiry, and enjoyment of learning, the majority of teachers nowadays employ a student-centered approach. The teacher-student interactive method is the final teaching strategy identified by this research. Both the teacher-centered approach and the student-centered approach are used in this teaching method. When students present information about a subject, it is more likely to be remembered than when lecturers do the same.

Kathare (2020) studied the impact of instructional strategies on deaf children' academic achievement in mathematics in Meru County, Kenya. The results of the study reveal the following findings. The use of different teaching methods was found to improve the academic performance of deaf students in mathematics. The study also discovered that teachers' primary methods of communication when instructing deaf pupils in mathematics were sign language and everyday

conversation. The study also discovered that the academic mathematics performance of deaf students in schools and special units is influenced by good communication, the availability of resources for teaching and learning, effective teacher preparation, and student attitudes. The study also discovered that interactive teaching and learning strategies between teachers and students, such as tailored peer teaching and learning, can help children who are having trouble with math. Another study conducted by Munawaroh (2017) examined the impact of teaching methods and learning environment on students' academic achievement in vocational subjects and entrepreneurship in vocational high schools. The world of education includes various learning methods. Teaching methods are an important factor in learning and without learning methods, learning will not be effective. Therefore, an effective teaching method is needed so that the learning process can run well. Every teacher must have their own method in conveying material to students, but not all students can accept the teacher's method. Therefore, teachers must master the teaching methods that best suit the individual needs of students. There are several teaching methods applied by the teacher in the classroom such as lecture method, question and answer method, discussion method, task management method, demonstration method, training method, social drama method and role method, group work method, problem solving method and method in the workplace while traveling. The application of teaching methods requires a special environment and atmosphere. In this way, a conducive learning atmosphere can be created to achieve good student achievement. Particular attention should be paid to the types of teaching methods that need to be used to maximize learner potential and improve performance.

There are other studies that have been conducted to explain the teaching methods that teachers use to improve performance. A study on the effect of teaching strategies on the academic performance of secondary school pupils in Nigeria was undertaken by Isa et al. (2018). The results showed that the teacher's teaching method determines the extent to which students present their scientific knowledge. The results of this study also show that most of the teacher's teaching methods have a great influence on students' academic achievement. Isa et al. (2018) list three types of teaching techniques: teacher-centered methods, student-centered strategies, and teacher-student interactive techniques. The teacher-centered approach limits the information that students receive from the teacher while failing to increase their interest in the subject being taught. This approach is the least practical because it does not encourage discussion; it is more theoretical because the teacher only provides direction and memorization to students. In the student-centered method, this method is more comprehensive and assesses the individual needs and possibilities of students in learning. Many academics are increasingly employing more adaptable and student-centered techniques to encourage active learning as a result of the development of the concept of discovery learning. To promote curiosity, critical thinking, analytical inquiry, and enjoyment of learning, the majority of teachers nowadays employ a student-centered approach. A teaching strategy that combines elements of both teacher-centered and student-centered techniques is known as the interactive teacher-student method. This approach promotes conversation between instructors and students. This teaching approach can help students reach their full potential and boost both individual student performance and school wide achievement. Most teachers today use an interactive teacherstudent approach to encourage student interest, analytical inquiry, critical thinking, and enjoyment. In Kinematic Motion: Graphical Interpretation and Conceptual Understanding, Mvula (2020) looked at instructional strategies and learners' academic achievement. A quasi-experimental design was employed in this investigation (non-randomized control group design before and after testing). As a survey tool, the questionnaire was employed. According to the one-way ANOVA approach and Tukey's HSD post hoc results, there was no appreciable difference in the efficacy of the three

training methods. According to the average results, which showed that the group using the method, the teacher-student interactive approach was the most effective teaching strategy, followed by the student-oriented approach, and the teacher-oriented approach was the least effective.

In Kenya's Dadaab District, Garissa Regency, public secondary schools, Muema et al. (2018) examined the connection between instructional strategies and math students' performance. Although the data collecting and analysis methods for this study are mixed, it adheres to a quasi-experimental research design. All of the principals, all of the math teachers, and two students from the ten secondary schools in the Dadaab sub-district made up the target group. According to this study, there is a link between effective teaching strategies and students' math proficiency. Teaching through information and communication technology is more related to student achievement than traditional teaching methods.

There are several factors that cause the ineffectiveness of the teaching and learning process in elementary schools (Mupa, & Chinooneka, 2017). Mupa and Chinooneka (2017) tried to examine the factors that contribute to effective teaching and learning in primary schools. Mixed methods were used for data collection. This study indicated that teachers didn't employ a variety of instructional strategies. They don't prepare various media for use in the process of teaching and learning and learning and teaching atmosphere for students is severe and unpleasant, and teacher morale is low. Parental support for additional materials such as textbooks and book reviews is very low. Some parents teach their children to do homework. They don't offer their kids any extra classes. Schools lack textbooks, test books and textbooks to increase children's knowledge.

The academic accomplishment of Swahili pupils in public and private secondary schools in Lang'ata District was the focus of a research study by Atandi et al. published in 2019. The study's

findings suggest that a teacher's choice of instructional strategy has a significant impact on the efficiency of various teaching and learning processes. Teaching methods affect the academic performance of Swahili students. It is very important to have trained teachers who understand each student's needs and abilities and can deal with them individually. According to According to study by Atandi et al. (2019), group projects, demonstrations, and question-and-answer sessions are the next most popular teaching techniques among Swahili language instructors. According to this survey, the lecture-based technique of instruction predominated in classrooms. The purpose of this study is to evaluate the efficacy of various teaching strategies. Teachers must understand that giving pupils tasks to accomplish rather than simply having them memorize facts will increase learning effectiveness. Students create knowledge through activities that are experience-based rather than those that are instructor-led.

A study conducted by Oke (2020) on teaching methods and student academic achievement middle School Teachers in the East Ibarapa Regional Government. The teacher-student interactive learning method was found to be the most effective teaching strategy, followed by the studentoriented approach, and the teacher-oriented approach was found to be the least effective, according to the average score. Additionally, most traditional teaching techniques are instructor-directed and devoid of any kind of student involvement, leaving students to passively take instruction from the teacher without becoming interested in the subject. The teacher-centered method is theoretical rather than practical and promotes memorizing. The teaching methods available to teachers in teaching situations can be divided into four broad areas. These methods include teacher-centered methods, student-centered methods, content-oriented methods, and interactive or participatory methods. In the teacher-centered method, the teacher is given the role of a master. Teachers are seen by students as experts or authorities. Learners, on the other hand, are meant to be passive and abundant recipients of knowledge from the teacher. These methods include presentation or lecture methods. The second method is a learner-oriented method. In a learner-centered method, the teacher or trainer is both a teacher and a learner. According to Oke (2020), the teacher also acts as a learner. This method encourages student participation and thus improves student performance. The third method is content-oriented. In the content-oriented method, both the teacher and the students must match the content being taught. Content-oriented methods argue that the information and skills to be conveyed are considered sacred or very important. This method is also effective for improving student achievement. Great importance attaches to clarity and careful content analysis- interactive or participatory methods. The interactive content or participatory method borrows slightly from the other three methods without undue emphasis on the learner, content, or teacher. These are four methods that can be used in training.

Vrioni (2019) conducted a study that focused on the effect of group learning on students' academic performance. According to the author, there are two approaches that teachers use in the classroom. These methods include a lecture approach and a group or collaborative learning approach. This study presents an attempt to demonstrate that group learning provides opportunities for classroom participation between students and students and teachers, thereby creating a learning environment. The large-scale lecture technique, in contrast, provides uncommon chances for student engagement, information transfer to novel contexts, long-term memory, and incentive for additional learning.

Further, Vrioni (2019) claims that this study examines how group communication might enhance academic, social, and personal understanding. This study demonstrates that professors who switch

from lecturing solely to group instruction help their students achieve academic and cognitive brilliance, which enhances performance. This study shows that there are benefits to moving from a traditional teacher-centred classroom to a student-centred environment that encourages communication. Group learning requires building a better educational experience for all students and a better environment for teachers to become professional in order to improve students' academic performance.

A research study was conducted by Usmani and Dawani (2017) on teaching methods and their impact on student performance. The results showed that many teachers tried new teaching methods in the classroom to make the learning process more effective. The results showed that the learning achievement of students who were taught through distributed learning was better than that of mass learning. According to Usmani and Dawani (2017), the comparison between multimedia and teaching tools and speaking chalk shows that chalk and conversation are more effective tools in distributed learning and mass learning, and improve academic performance and student retention rates increase and improve.

According to Usmani and Dawani's (2017), study, pupils who received instruction through distributed learning performed better than those who received instruction through mass learning. This study makes the case that it is crucial to find and evaluate teaching strategies that can help students learn more in the long run and perform better overall. Massive and distributed classroom practice makes sense and has shown good results in identifying the real concerns of instructors in the classroom. The test findings demonstrate a striking improvement when students are observed using distributed learning, which is a review strategy in place of conventional review activities. Contrarily, a comparison of the teaching methods used in mass and remote education—chalk and

conversation versus multimedia—reveals that the latter is more effective in raising academic achievement and retaining students.

Mbia and Nsungo (2019) conducted a study on the impact of innovative methods of teaching physics on academic achievement of high school students in Akamkpa City. According to this study, there are different teaching methods, including peer education, problem-based learning, discovery learning, and collaborative methods. The results showed that students who were taught using peer, problem-based learning, discovery learning and collaborative methods achieved much better results than those taught using traditional methods. According to this study, teachers should aim to integrate as deeply as peer education; problem-based learning, discovery learning and collaborative approaches in physics education in secondary schools; and textbook authors should appropriately incorporate the use of these innovative instructional strategies to guide teachers and students taught using other innovative teaching methods. This means that the development and introduction of masculine and results-oriented learning approaches in physics education should be encouraged.

Welp (2021) examined the progress and potential of education in Kenya. In Kenya, school enrollment rates have increased by 90% since the introduction of the FPE policy in 2003 (MOEST, 2019). Although the government continues to mention this success rate, the dropout rate in public elementary schools has actually increased due to the unsupportive learning environment and teaching and learning methods offered in public elementary schools. While governments boast increased enrollments and school supply, the EFA Global Monitor points out that the quality of education is inadequate in most countries, with student-to-textbook ratios reaching 2:1 in some schools (MOEST, 2019). Kenya is located in sub-Saharan Africa. Given the World Bank's focus

on finding a better balance between increasing enrollment in basic education and maintaining minimum standards. Researchers are interested in knowing whether the minimum standards of teaching and learning methodology for student representation in West Laikipia County have been met.

2.2.4 Teachers' Perception and Performance

Teachers' perception relates to the teachers' attitude, morale and motivation which can affect their service delivery as well as in the pupils' performance. According to the World Bank (2016), the overcrowded classroom makes it difficult for a teacher to effectively manage the high number of pupils contributing to the challenges related to pupils' indiscipline. Indiscipline has a negative impact on effective learning hence poor academic achievement (World Bank, 2016). When pupils are undisciplined the teacher loses morale and gets demotivated in academic achievement. Kenya, Paul (2008) found out that large classes cause inefficiency on part of the teacher in addressing the pupils' needs. This poses stress to the teacher leading to low morale and ill-health further causing poor academic performance.

According to Paul (2008), the implementation of the FPE policy has opened the door for enthusiastic students who have been excluded from school. Therefore, the unexpectedly high participation rate is a major challenge for FPE host countries. According to UNESCO, it is difficult to discipline a class of 200 children in Malawi, which leads to aggressive conduct. Teachers face a significant problem in providing assistance and maintaining classroom discipline as a result of this behavior. In Kenya, dealing with tens of thousands of "elderly" and street children who want to return and finish their primary school is more challenging, and they frequently persecute younger and smarter people (UNESCO, 2018).

Mwai (2011) discovered that teacher credentials affect student accomplishment in a comparison study of low and high achievement between pupils in rural and urban schools. Faced with severe teacher shortages, several countries have employed underpaid and poorly trained "volunteer" teachers to fill gaps while impacting the quality of education offered to students. Therefore, the Kenyan government must act more quickly to address the teacher shortage by training and recruiting enough teachers to improve the quality of education in public primary schools.

Similarly a study conducted by Redding (2019) on a teacher like myself: A review of the impact of racial/ethnic student-teacher matching on student perceptions and academic outcomes and teacher behavior found that externalized problem behaviors were the only behavioral assessments made with grades different depending on the race of the teacher. According to the study, black and Hispanic students were less likely to be perceived as fighting, destructive, and controversial by same ethnic teachers than when they were assigned to teachers of a different race/ethnicity. In terms of student achievement, this study shows that hiring black teachers is associated with increased achievement of black students. This improvement has a negligible impact on the difference in black and white performance. This is noteworthy; this conclusion is the result not only of finding consistently zero, but also of the lack of attention paid to Latin students by Latin teachers in a number of studies. The main theory put up to explain these findings is that Hispanic students and teachers' capacity to establish a shared sense of culture is constrained by variations in nationality or immigrant generations.

At the Biology High School in Gilgil Nakuru County, Kenya, Kiarie (2017) did a study on the effect of teachers' perceptions on students' perceptions and performance in environmental education. According to the study's findings, biology teachers have a favorable opinion on environmental education. Although biology instructors are qualified, they still require in-service

training in environmental education. Teachers lack the expertise and abilities to successfully conduct environmental education, despite the fact that they believe it to be a crucial topic of study. They lack the practical skills and appropriate EE teaching materials such as audiovisual teaching aids.

Kiarie (2017) suggested that biology teachers need a variety of abilities and expertise to deal with it because the success of the environment is heavily dependent on a well-developed instruction system and consistency in presenting its varied difficulties. Teachers and the media should be more knowledgeable about environmental concerns because they are significant sources of environmental information and can help pupils learn more. According to the findings, teachers' opinions are crucial in determining how well students learn, retain, and use information to alter their attitudes and performance in environmental education. Therefore, environmental awareness needs to be fostered in secondary schools so that students can develop positive attitudes and care for the environment.

A study on the impact of teachers' perceptions and expectations on student achievement, conducted by Contreras (2019) the study found that teachers have specific perceptions and expectations of their Spanish-speaking students. Social constructivists would argue that teachers' cultural assumptions and social beliefs influence their practice, and therefore the abilities of their students. Without critical reflection and control, the education system will continue to adhere to its injustices. When we expect something to happen, our expectations and the resulting behavior become so. This concept of self-fulfillment prophecy was introduced into research by psychologist Pfungst in 1911 with the case of Clever Hans. This is one of the first studies to show that people can control and even create situations based on their preferences and expectations. The first stage involves a person's belief that an event will occur in the future. In the second stage, these beliefs or expectations lead to new behaviors that would not have occurred without the new beliefs. In the last phase, the expected event occurs, as a result of which the prophecy is fulfilled. Without even realizing it, we can get the results we expect. Teachers' prejudices and expectations affect students' academic performance.

Campbell et al. (2020) conducted a study that focused on the perceptions of primary school teachers. Primary school teachers feel that introducing continuous assessment will improve performance. The results show that continuous assessment is an excellent program that offers students the opportunity to continuously improve over time by being assessed during the training period. The results showed that the program was critical and emphasized the importance of assessment in the teaching and learning process.

According to Campbell-Phillips et al. (2020), the benefits of adopting a continuous evaluation component will help children in other subjects of the primary school curriculum and their personal growth as persons. The implementation of this program must take into account the participants' suggestions for development, even though their views are directly tied to their schools. These educators' views also represent their understanding of how to carry out the program and how they believe they should be involved to make it more meaningful and fruitful. Students can benefit from a quality education, the development of inventiveness and a sense of competence, and chances for autonomous and lifelong learning by participating in ongoing teacher assessment as part of their learning.

Adeyemo (2017) carried out a research study with the main goal of determining the impact of teachers' and students' perceptions of the physics learning environment in the classroom on their performance in physics in secondary schools. Many existing studies confirm that the perception of physics teachers increases student achievement. According to the author, the teacher is the most

important educational factor that affects student learning achievement. In addition, the attitudes and interests of teachers can affect student performance, because the teacher is seen as someone who teaches students or directs them to do something. According to this study, the attitudes and interests of teachers play an important role in building good relationships with students for the advancement of education. Therefore, in order for a teacher to choose the right teaching media for physics class, the idea of what they want to teach and how they want to teach should be in their mind first before deciding on a medium that takes individual differences into account by students. The main purpose of teaching according to this study is to meet the needs and interests of students, because some of them can learn better with simple explanations in class, while others learn better by learning with machines.

A research study conducted by Williams (2017) focused on the impact of teacher expectations and perceptions on the reading achievement of third and fifth graders. According to the study's findings, there is no obvious connection between teacher expectations and perceptions of student equality, the classroom atmosphere, relationships between students and instructors, and demographic characteristics of teachers like age, race, or ethnicity. Experience, education, and degree. Teacher expectations often differ from student expectations, with student expectations influencing interpretations and perceptions.

In a study by Williams (2017) it was found that instructors' expectations had an impact on both perception and interpretation. Teachers' expectations influence perception by making them aware of what they expect and less likely to observe what they do not expect. Even if they don't match the realities, some expectations are true. In this way, even if a hope is unfounded, it might still exist. The findings also demonstrated that after a year, pupils who had teachers who anticipated them to develop intellectually outperformed kids who did not have such teachers. Students that are

more successful and do better in their academic studies are produced by teachers who have high expectations for student achievement and who communicate these expectations, as opposed to those who do not.

The relationship between teacher expectations and teachers' assessments of student quality was the subject of a research study carried out by (Timmerman et al., 2018). According to the study's findings, pupils tend to live up to professors' high expectations of them when they are expected to perform well. In both science and experimental contexts, Pfungst's (1911) self-fulfilling prophesy affects teachers' predictions about students' future performance. The study comes to the conclusion that self-fulfilling prophecies typically have a negligible effect on student achievement.

According to Timmermans et al. (2018), expectations are largely cognitive phenomena that teachers use to draw conclusions about potential future performance and behavior based on previous and current student performance and behavior. Most often, the correctness of teacher expectations is determined on the basis of the match between teacher expectations and students' past performance. When teachers routinely demand too much or too little from a certain group of students, prejudice against teacher expectations or different teacher expectations may result. These findings might imply that primary school teachers view good work habits and self-esteem as crucial characteristics for students' success in Dutch secondary school. On the other hand, students who believe they act more positively in class appear to have fewer expectations from professors. The impact of teacher-student relationships on African American achievement was examined by Kenyatta (2019). According to the findings, teachers gave pupils with higher socioeconomic statuses greater ratings than those with lower socioeconomic statuses. Research has shown that IQ frequently differs from teacher forecasts. Additionally, research suggests that race has played a

deterministic role in instructors' "perceptions of student ability," with minority students being seen to be less capable even when their performance is on par with that of their non-minority peers. This bias, Kenyatta (2019) argued, often affects the interactions between teachers and students, and impacts the curriculum and learning opportunities for students. According to this, students in primary schools are divided into different educational paths. The grouping based on these abilities largely reflects the teacher's assessment. Teachers orient themselves to the structure of the school, which requires control, homogeneity and the cultivation of socially approved behavior and language. School norms prioritize qualities such as consent and passivity in gender and racial minorities, and teachers are tasked with suppressing behaviors that conflict with these traits and replacing them with more favorable behavior. If students are less prone to this compliance, they will be tagged and given an alternative place. The teacher acts as a critical component in the termination process, and suspensions are often the result of biased classroom interactions. These prejudices shape student performance in schools.

According to a study by Ceroni et al. (2016), on teachers' perceptions of students' potential and difficulties, the results show that from the teacher's point of view, the effect of drugs has a positive effect on learning difficulties and inappropriate behavior is also significantly influenced by learning difficulties. The outcomes also demonstrated a detrimental impact on students' potential due to learning challenges and inappropriate behavior. This study intends to analyze how the teaching-learning profile of the new institution affects the underlying circumstances of students' prospective possibilities and challenges in the classroom.

According to Ceroni et al. (2016), it is important to examine the manifestations of these behaviors because, in the teacher's opinion, students are neither aggressive or immoral. The majority of educators said they had seen instances where pupils looked to be under the influence of alcohol or

other drugs. These findings show that teachers must pay close attention and receive training in how to act and mentor pupils in order to effectively handle circumstances like these in the classroom. This study also addresses instructional design, taking into account the characteristics of college freshman and the fundamental principles of the teaching-learning connection.

UNICEF (2018) examined the implementation of FPE policies and opens the door to enthusiastic students being expelled from school. Therefore, the unexpectedly high participation rate is a major challenge for FPE host countries. It is difficult to discipline a class of 200 children in Malawi, which leads to aggressive behavior, according to UNESCO. As a result of this behavior, teachers face significant problems in terms of supporting and maintaining discipline in the classroom. In Kenya, dealing with tens of thousands of "adults" and homeless children who want to go back and finish primary school is more of a challenge, and they often persecute younger and smarter people.

2.3 Theoretical Framework

Theories are formulated to provide an explanation of various phenomena and challenging situations as well as increase the understanding of facts and assumptions of critical issues that affect humans. The theoretical framework is a framework that underpins a research study's theory and hence describes and explains the existence of the research problem being investigated (Gabriel, 2013). The study adopted the Cognitive Behavioral Theory, Systematic Approach to Instruction Theory and Maslow's hierarchy of needs theory. Their relevance to the study was also discussed.

2.3.1 Cognitive Behavioral Theory (CBT)

Cognitive Behavioral Theory (CBT) was pioneered by Dr. Aaron Beck in 1963(Hupp et al., 2008). This theory is based on the idea that our thoughts (knowledge), feelings (emotions), and actions (behaviors) all work together (Hupp et al., 2008). Our thoughts, in particular, influence our feelings and actions. As a result, unpleasant and unrealistic beliefs can cause us pain and suffering. When a person is under psychological stress, their perception of the situation becomes distorted, which has a negative impact on their behavior and, as a result, on the individuals who rely on them. The objective of cognitive behavioral theory is to increase awareness of behavioral patterns and unfavorable interpretations that support skewed thinking. In order to relieve psychological distress, cognitive therapy helps individuals create new thought patterns and behavioral patterns (Hayes, 2014). CBT is a treatment tactic that helps to recognize negative thoughts and behavior patterns. The main aim being able to identify and explore the ways emotions and thoughts affect actions.

This theory is used in this study to explain how teachers conduct themselves in an unfavourable environment for learning. Hayes (2014) notes that most of the inappropriate behaviours observed among public primary school teachers in classrooms may be as a result of psychological distress that may lead to low morale and increased stress occasioned by overcrowding and poor class management. The limitation of this theory is that it justifies the advancement of negative conduct which can influence the behaviour of others. Psychological distress among teachers can result in teachers' demotivation leading to pupils' poor academic performance.

2.3.2 Systematic Approach to Instruction Theory (SATI)

Systematic Approach to Instruction Theory originated from Gerlack and Ely in 1978 (Randell, 2008). This idea lays out specific rules for assisting people in their learning and development. It provides an idea of what might happen in relation to the different types of teaching and learning activities used in the classroom and how to assess them. It focuses on how best to structure learning materials and behaviors to facilitate learning. Benjamin Bloom's 1956 publication and the findings of his Taxonomy of Educational Goals, one of the earliest modern codifications of the learning

process, inspired a systematic approach to learning theory, according to Bowden and Randall (2008).

Robert M. Gann, who published Conditions for Learning (Bowden and Randell, 2008) in 1965, was one of the early learning theorists. SATI was influenced by three key educational theories: behaviorism, a theory that helps us understand how individuals conform to standards, and cognitive behaviorism, a theory that helps us understand how people think. This theory addresses the significance of human action as an important function of knowledge acquisition; cognitivism, the belief that learning occurs through mental associations; and constructivism, the theory that learning occurs via mental associations.

According to Phillips (2014), while learning theory explains how learning occurs, a systematic approach to learning theory determines how to help people learn better. Theory also helps people create conditions that increase the possibility of learning, understand learning systems, and enhance the learning process (Mayer, 1992). According to SATI, teachers should identify the objectives, content, behavior distribution while entering a space, resource selection, strategy description, and evaluation before performing training. Learning will not operate well without resources such as employees, textbooks, and space, in theory. Because the researcher feels that restricted resources and space are hurdles in the teaching and learning process at the free primary school, the theory is applicable for this study..

2.3.3 Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs

Maslow's hierarchy of human needs theory was developed in the United States by psychologist Abraham Maslow in 1942 (Milheim, 2012). The hierarchy of needs theory is still valid today to understand motivation, leadership, and human personality development (Milheim, 2012). Physiological needs, safety requirements, belonging needs, respect needs, and self-actualization needs are the five categories of need that Maslow believed should motivate people. According to him, these needs vary from the simplest to the highest and indicate that the needs are never fully met, and when the needs are met, behavior is no longer affected (Huitt, 2004). On the other hand, Gawel (2017) argues that people who barely fulfill their needs will not function effectively.

The first in Maslow's hierarchy is the biological/physiological needs which include the needs of food, air, drink, warmth, shelter, sleep and sex among others. In other concepts, they are referred to as existence needs and without them, one cannot exist. Safety needs come second and include the need for protection, security, law, order and stability among others. The third in line is the need for belongingness and love which comes with the feeling of being part of a family or workgroup, affection and relationships (Maslow & Lewis, 1987). Maslow and Lewis (1987) argue that once an individual satisfies the biological and safety needs, they would seek to satisfy the belongingness needs. At this level, people try to overcome feelings of alienation and loneliness. Esteem needs come at the fourth level of the hierarchy and include the needs of mastery, achievement, independence, prestige, prestige, status and managerial responsibility among others.

Maslow's theory is based on the premise that people are motivated by unmet needs, and that lower needs must be met before higher wants can be satisfied. According to Milheim (2012), biological, love and esteem are general needs and have to be satisfied before a person starts to act unselfishly. Three needs are also known as deficiency needs and as a person gets motivated by the desires of these needs, they move closer towards growth and finally self-actualization. The satisfaction of the needs contributes to the health of the individual and the art of inadequate satisfaction of the needs can lead to poor health or the individual engaging in anti-social behaviour. Therefore, for the adequate satisfaction of individuals or groups of people, group leaders need to understand the needs that are active for the individual members of the group.

In reference to the current study, and looking at Maslow's hierarchy of needs, it is recognized that once the lower need, the most basic is satisfied, a person focuses on satisfying the higher needs in the hierarchy. This includes the need to be accepted as part of a larger group of people and to have relationships with others. The concept of the hierarchy of needs applied in the classroom suggests that basic needs must be met for a teacher to teach well, because people need a place to live for food and clothing to do their work. Space, instructional materials, teaching aids, students, and a conducive learning atmosphere are the primary requirements of the classroom. In this example, space refers to a classroom, which is a structure that houses a learning environment. Books are teaching materials, teachers are teaching materials, and teaching materials are for teachers. Students are students, and a supportive environment is a setting that can help them study more effectively. Learning may be effectively carried out when all of the above variables are present, according to this concept. The question is whether or not this is included in free basic education.

2.4 Conceptual Framework

A conceptual framework is an underlying structure that displays the link between the variables in a study and represents the core features of an idea (Jabareen, 2008). The dependent variable for the study was the pupils' academic performance which was likely to be affected by the independent variables which included teaching-learning resources, pupil-teacher ratio, teaching-learning methods and teachers' perception as demonstrated in Figure 2.1.

Figure 2.1

Conceptual Framework



(Source; Author, 2021)

CHAPTER THREE

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

3.1 Introduction

This chapter outlined the measures that were taken to make research easier to undertake and meet the research goals. The research site, study design, target population, sample size and sampling strategy, research tools, research tool reliability and validity, data collection procedures, data processing techniques, and ethical issues are all factors to consider.

3.2 Study Location

Laikipia West Sub County lies between latitudes 0⁰ 18[•] South and 0⁰ 51[•] North and between Longitudes 36⁰ 11[•] and 37⁰ 24[•] East within Laikipia County in Kenya (IEBC, 2020). Laikipia West Sub County is one of the five Sub Counties in Laikipia County and is located approximately 186 kilometers by road from Nairobi, Kenya (IEBC, 2020). The population in Laikipia West Sub County is evenly distributed and some of the economic activities in this area are mainly tourism and agriculture. The location of the study was chosen based on the analysis of academic performance of the sub county for the last ten years which indicated the mean score was below two hundred and fifty out of five hundred marks in Kenya Certificate of Primary Education, refer to Table 1.1.

3.3 Research Design

The study's research design is a strategy for determining the solution to the study's problem (Mugenda & Mugenda, 2008). This study used a descriptive survey research design, with the goal of gathering relevant and reliable information regarding the current state of the phenomena and, when possible, drawing valid overall inferences from the findings. According to Kotari (2014), descriptive survey research is used to gather data on the current condition of a phenomenon in

order to describe what is known about the variables. Also in line with Cooper and Schindler (2008), descriptive survey design is used to help to determine whether there is significant association among variables existing at some point in time. Actually, Bryman (2012) purports that descriptive survey designs are relevant in a study when the purpose is to explain variables as they are in the current state and how they affect a phenomenon. Descriptive survey designs also allowed the researcher to collect both quantitative and qualitative data (Bryman, 2012). In this study the researcher dealt with issues that have happened or happening and as such had no control over variables in terms of being able to manipulate them, hence descriptive survey suffices. Therefore the research design was employed to gather accurate data on the current state of FPE in public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub County.

3.4 Target Population

The target group is all cases of people or organizations that have certain characteristics; this is a larger group to sample (Sekaran, 2016). The target population of this study was 490 teachers in ten (10) public primary schools in West Laikipia District (Director of Education Laikipia County, 2021). All teachers in Laikipia West Sub County were considered as target population where the sample was drawn. Ten (10) principals from ten public primary schools in the sub county were also considered as a target population where a sample was drawn.

3.5 Sample Size and Sampling Technique

Sampling is the process of choosing a certain number of subjects for a study in such a way that they best represent the largest group from which they were drawn (Mugenda & Mugenda, 2008). A systematic strategy for selecting individuals for research to represent the wider group from which they are recruited is known as sampling (Cooper & Schindler, 2011). The focus technique and basic random sampling were used in this study. Target sampling was conducted on selected key informants, who were principals of the four selected schools. Random sampling method was used to select teachers from the selected schools. In this sampling technique, the research data is acquired from the participants of the study with each member having an equal chance of being selected. Using simple random sampling, subjects are selected without bias and this may give better characteristics of the population. Yamane (1967) formula was adopted in computation of the sample size.

$$n = \frac{N}{1 + N(e)^2}$$

Where:

'n' = sample size,
'N' = population
'e' = the confidence level
1 = constant.
This study assumed the level of precision of 5%

The sample size is:

$$n = \underline{490} \\ 1 + 490(0.05)^2$$

n =220

This study sample size was therefore 220 teachers. The distribution table was as follows;

Table 3.1

Sample Size

School (s)	Target Population	Sample Size	Percentage
Teachers	490	220	44.9%
Principals	10	10	100%
Total	500	330	66%

3.6 Research Instruments

This study is descriptive survey that seeks to collect the opinions of the people according to their own understanding and beliefs in their existing contexts. In order to collect data, the study used a semi-structured questionnaire and an interview guide as research instruments. The instruments were built around the research objectives as well as the demographic data of the respondents. Both open-ended and closed questions were included in semi-structured questionnaires. Questionnaires, according to Mugenda and Mugenda (2008), are commonly used to acquire population data in a short amount of time and are simple to handle. The research data was collected from the selected teachers using a semi-structured questionnaire. The interview guides contained open-ended questions. Kothari (2011) asserts that interview guides are used to get in-depth information about the study research questions. The interview guides were used to collect in-depth information from the selected head teachers, who were the key informants.

3.7 Pilot of the Research Instruments

According to Cooper and Schindler (2003), pilot testing involves a prior data collection before the actual data collection process takes place. This activity acts as a guide for examining the research questions and determining whether the research instruments produce the expected results. A pretest is meant to enhance the understanding of the question and yield relevant results. The size of the

pilot sample ranges from 1-10% of the sampled population (Mugenda & Mugenda, 2009). This pilot test was conducted on 7 respondents making up 5% of the sample size. The validity and reliability of research tools were assessed during pilot testing.

3.7.1 Validity

Validity is the degree to which a research instrument measures study attributes for a particular group (Kothari, 2011). For this study validity of the questionnaire was determined through constant consultation with the University's supervisors.

3.7.2 Reliability

The constancy of a measurement is referred to as reliability. When the same results are produced frequently, a test is considered dependable (Cooper & Schindler, 2003). Using Cronbach's alpha, often known as the reliability coefficient, the validity of the questionnaire responses was evaluated. A high level of internal consistency and the ability to aggregate the data to reflect the opinions of all respondents in the target group are implied by an alpha coefficient of better than 0.7, according to Cherry (2013). The reliability of the instrument was achieved by randomly selecting four teachers and three principals from randomly selected public primary schools in the Laikipia West sub county and publishing them with a questionnaire. The information gathered was analyzed to ensure that the questions are correctly answered and to establish the sequence and structure of the questions. The results of the responders, on the other hand, were not included in the final results. This is because the obtained results focused on the statistical outcome rather than the feasibility of the study.

3.8 Data Collection Procedure

Data collection refers to gathering empirical evidence to form a picture of the situation and enable the researcher to answer questions that involve conducting research (Kothari, 2011). Primary data was used in this study. Data collection methods for this survey involved filling out questionnaires and administering interview guidelines. The researcher distributed 220 questionnaires to randomly selected teachers in 49 public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-county with the assistance of research assistants. The research assistants helped in making follow up and collecting the filled-in questionnaires. This was in strict conformity with Kothari (2011) assertion that a sample proportion of 30% is representative. The questionnaires were written in basic English to make it easy for respondents to answer to the survey questions.

The researcher also interviewed 10 selected head teachers from 10 randomly selected primary schools. The researcher booked appointments with the interviewees and agreed on best time that was convenient for them. The mode of conducting the interviews was face to face. In administering the interview guides, the researcher gave each participant a specific code such as P1, P2, and P3.

3.9 Data Analysis

Data collected using questionnaires was both qualitative and quantitative. On the other hand, data collected using interview guides was qualitative. In the data analysis, descriptive and inferential statistics were used. Thematic content analysis was used to examine qualitative data. The responses were gathered into transcriptions, analyzed methodically for easy interpretation, and comments on related themes were grouped and interpreted using emerging themes. Quantitative data from the questionnaires was first edited and coded. The coded data was entered into Statistical Package for Social Science (SPSS version 24) and then processed to generate frequency tables, means, correlation coefficients and regression analysis. The information was summarized in accordance with the study's goals. The study also utilized a multiple regression model to perform inferential analysis. The regression model was as follows

 $Y=\beta_0+\beta_1X_1+\beta_2X_2+\beta_3X_3+\beta_4X_4+\epsilon$

- Y- Pupils' performance
- B0-y-intercept or the constant
- β1 β4 -regression coefficients
- X₁–Teaching learning resources
- X₂ Pupil-teacher ratio
- X₃ Teaching-learning methods
- X₄-Teachers' perception
- E Error Term.

3.10 Ethical Considerations

Mugenda and Mugenda (2003) opined that ethics involves making a judgment about right and wrong behaviour. Before collecting the data, the researcher sought permission from the relevant ethical board. Researcher also received a cover letter from the Kenya Methodist University Research Council and submit it to the NACOSTI for approval. The submission letter attached to the questionnaire was used to invite respondents to participate. During the data collection exercise, the questionnaires were provided to respondents through manual submission of a sample population selected by a programmer managed by the researcher. The researcher also assured respondents that no harm would befall them for participating in the study and the exercise was voluntary. All were informed of right to anonymity and confidentiality. Therefore, respondents' names were not required in the questionnaires. The respondents had the right to refuse to answer certain questions and the right to refuse to be interviewed or to respond to the questionnaires.

After collecting the data, the researcher had a moral obligation to treat the information acquired in this study with the utmost care due to the sensitivity of the information to be obtained. Researcher adhered to professionalism, respecting integrity, thereby avoiding plagiarism and data alteration.

CHAPTER FOUR

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Introduction

This chapter summarizes the findings in accordance to the research objectives. The results are also discussed with reference to empirical literature review in chapter two. The purpose of this study was to determine the influence of free primary education on pupils' academic performance in public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County, Laikipia County. The chapter starts by presenting the reliability results as well as the response rate. This is followed by background information and then descriptive statistics results. Further, correlation and regression analysis outcome are provided.

4.2 Reliability Test

A reliability test was conducted to determine the dependability of the questionnaire. In particular, Cronbach's Alpha, which measures the internal consistency of the instrument was computed. The findings are indicated in Table 4.1.

Table 4.1

Reliability Results

Constructs	No. of Items	Cronbach's Alpha $(\alpha > 0, 7)$		
Teaching Learning resources	6	0.721		
Pupil Teacher Ratio	6	0.767		
Teaching-learning methods	6	0.896		
Teachers Perception	6	0.724		
Pupils' Academic Performance	6	0.812		

Table 4.1 shows that the Cronbach's coefficient alpha value was more than 0.7, (α >0.7) for each variable. A reliability coefficient that is above 0.7 is regarded as reliable in social sciences

(Bhattacherjee, 2012). Therefore, the research data was considered dependable and fit for further analysis.

4.3 Response Rate

The researcher distributed 220 questionnaires to public primary school teachers in West Laikipia Sub-County. Out of this, 172 (78.2%) questionnaires were returned and used in the analysis. As for principals, the researcher had intended to interview 10 of them, but only six were available during the interview period. This represented a 60% response rate. A response rate above 50% was considered adequate for statistical analysis (Saunders et al., 2009).

4.4 Background Information Results

The background information of respondents was key to this study. This helped to explain the characteristics of teachers which further informed the interpretation of the findings of each variable. The background information aspects which were of interest to this study were age, gender, subject, working duration, highest education level, number of teachers in school, number of pupils in class, and satisfaction with the number of pupils in class. Table 4.2 shows the background information results.

Table 4.2

Background	Information	Results
0	5	

Characteristics	Frequency (f)	Percent (%)		
Age				
18 - 25	10	5.8		
26 - 35	57	33.1		
36 - 45	73	42.4		
46 - 55	32	18.6		
Total	172	100		
Gender				
Male	71	41.3		
Female	101	58.7		
Total	172	100		
Subject taught in school				
Mathematics	23	13.4		
Languages	26	15.1		
Science	28	16.3		
Social Science	62	36		
Religion	33	19.2		
Total	172	100		
Working duration				
Less than 5	46	26.7		
5-10	58	33.7		
11-15	43	25		
15-20	25	14.5		
Total	172	100		
Highest education level				
Volunteer	4	2.3		
Certificate	68	39.5		
College Diploma	100	58.1		
Total	172	100		
Number of teachers in school				
Less than 20	139	80.8		
20-30	33	19.2		
Total	172	100		
Number of Pupils in class				
Less than 40	76	44.2		
40-50	89	51.7		
Over 50	7	4.1		
Total	172	100		

The findings in Table 4.2 reveal that (73, 42.4%) of the respondents were aged 36-45 years, and (57, 33.1%) were aged 26-35 years. Results also indicate that female respondents (101, 58.7%) were more than the male (71, 41.3%). The researcher considered the gender composition to be fair given that the one-third rule was adhered to according to Kenya Constitution. Further, (62, 36%) of the respondents noted that they teach social science and (58, 33.7%) had worked for 5-10 years in their schools. This suggested that the respondents had sufficient knowledge of and experience with how free primary education affected students' academic achievement.

The respondents (100, 58.1%) had college diploma, and (68, 39.5%) had certificate level education. This was the expected education level for most primary school teachers. Additionally, (139, 80.8 % of the respondents mentioned that their school had fewer than 20 teachers. Having adequate teachers is considered essential in enhancement of learners' academic performance. In addition, (89, 51.7%) of the respondents cited that the average number of pupils they can handle in a class was 40-50, while (76, 44.2%) noted less than 40. Finally, (112, 65.1%) of the respondents indicated that they were not satisfied with the number of pupils they teach in class. This suggested that the number of pupils in a class was a challenge to most teachers. It is worth noting that a number of external factors influence teachers' effectiveness such as the number of students per teacher. This formed a part of the goal of this study had intended to identify if there is a significant correlation between number of students per teacher and students' performance.

4.5 Teaching Learning resources and Pupils' Performance

The study sought to assess the influence of teaching-learning resources on academic performance among public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County. The respondents were asked to rate the statements on teaching Learning resources. The scale used was as follows: Strongly disagree (1), Disagree (2), Not sure (3) Agree (4), and Strongly agree (5). Descriptive statistics results are

captured in Table 4.3.

Table 4.3

Descriptive Statistics on teaching learning resources

Statements on Teacher Learning	Strongly	Disagre			Strongl
Resources	disagree	e	Not sure	Agree	y agree
	f(%)	f(%)	f(%)	f(%)	f(%)
There is sufficient teacher guides in					
the school	75(43.6)	76(44.2)	6(3.5)	9(5.2)	6(3.5)
The test books are enough to be shared					
one between two pupils	68(39.5)	83(48.3)	6(3.5)	12(7)	3(1.7)
There are enough teaching aids to					
serve all classes	78(45.3)	66(38.4)	1(0.6)	16(9.3)	11(6.4)
There are enough chalks to be used in					
all classes	4(2.3)	20(11.6)	3(1.7)	68(39.5)	77(44.8)
Classes are not congested with pupils					
sharing desks	67(39)	72(41.9)	4(2.3)	15(8.7)	14(8.1)
Sometime the school run out of chalks					
in the middle of lessons	72(41.9)	68(39.5)	7(4.1)	9(5.2)	16(9.3)

The findings in Table 4.3 shows that majority of the respondents disagreed with the statement that there was sufficient teacher guides in the school (87.8%), the test books were enough to be shared one between two pupils (87.8%), and there are enough teaching aids to serve all classes (83.7%). The respondents further disagreed with the claims that classes were not congested with pupils sharing desks (80.9%), and sometime the schools run out of chalks in the middle of lessons (81.4%). On the other hand, most of the respondents agreed that there were enough chalks to be used in all classes (84.3%). The findings imply that most of the respondents felt that teaching-learning resources were not adequate in schools. According to Okongo et al. (2015), utilization of resources in education brings about fruitful learning outcomes since resources stimulate students learning as well as motivating them hence high levels of academic performance. These resources include material resources, physical facilities and human resources (DFID, 2007). Studies done in

the past with regard to availability of TLR in education reveal that TLR are not always available in schools. This inadequacy of TLR has been of serious concern to educators.

According to Lyons (2012), learning is a multifaceted activity that involves interchange of physical facilities, students' motivation, teaching resources, and skills of teaching and curriculum demands. Accessibility of TLR therefore enhances the effectiveness of schools as they are the fundamental resources that bring about good and improved academic performance in the students. The necessary resources that should be available for teaching and learning include material resources, human resource such as teachers and support staff and, physical facilities such as laboratories, libraries and classrooms.

These findings also agreed with Musyoka (2018) observation that inadequate library and laboratory facilities characterized most schools. Further, the study findings supported a study by Abubakar (2020) that found that public schools have inadequate educational resources, leading to poor student performance. When asked whether the ministry of education was doing enough in terms of providing resource to support free primary education, four principals indicated that the ministry of education was not doing enough to ensure sufficient resources are available in schools. They cited classrooms, text books and teachers as some of the resources that were not adequately provided. On the other hand, three principals acknowledged the governemnts efforts to provide resources to support free primary education. One of the participants , P1 observed that ..."*the government has made effort to construct new classrooms as well as improve the existing ones*" This supported a study by Livumbaze and Achoka (2017) who identified the importance of adequate libraries, classrooms and laboratories to improve performance of public schools.

The principals were also asked to explain the significance of teaching-learning resource on pupils' performance given the effect of free primary education. All the participants were in agreement that

teaching-learning resources were critical in ensuring the success of free primary education through improved learners' performance. One of the participants, P4 opined that "…*having adequate and relevant teaching-learning resources is fundamental to achieving the objective of free primary education program*" The findings agreed with a study by Kimalel (2019) who argued that learning resources are used to enhance learning, stimulate curiosity and create an atmosphere that engages all of the learner's senses.

4.6 Pupil Teacher Ratio and Pupils' Performance

The study sought to determine the influence of pupil-teacher ratio on academic performance among public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County. The respondents were asked to rate the statements on pupil-teacher ratio. The scale used was as follows: Strongly disagree (1), Disagree (2), Not sure (3) Agree (4), and Strongly agree (5). Descriptive statistics results are illustrated in Table 4.4.

Table 4.4

Descriptive Statistics on Pupil Teacher Ratio

	Strongly		Not		Strongly
Statements on pupil teacher ratio	disagree	Disagree	sure	Agree	agree
	f(%)	f(%)	f(%)	f(%)	f(%)
The is no teacher shortage in the school	80(46.5)	72(41.9)	10(5.8)	7(4.1)	3(1.7)
At least every class has a minimum of					
50 and a maximum of 70 pupils	4(2.3)	8(4.7)	4(2.3)	83(48.3)	73(42.4)
Teachers are able to attend to the needs					
of pupil in a single lesson	77(44.8)	69(40.1)	8(4.7)	11(6.4)	7(4.1)
Teachers can assess student					
assignments in a single day	63(36.6)	65(37.8)	9(5.2)	17(9.9)	18(10.5)
Teaching resources are never enough					
when shared among pupils	3(1.7)	17(9.9)	6(3.5)	77(44.8)	69(40.1)
Teachers can mark pupils' tests within					
the set timelines	3(1.7)	16(9.3)	16(9.3)	83(48.3)	54(31.4)

The findings in Table 4.4 indicated that most of the respondents agreed with the statements that at least every class had a minimum of 50 and a maximum of 70 pupils (90.7%), teaching resources
were never enough when shared among pupils (84.9%), and teachers can mark pupils' tests within the set timelines (79.7%). Further, majority of the respondents disagreed with the assertions that there was no teacher shortage in the school (88.4%), teachers were able to attend to the needs of pupil in a single lesson (84.9%), and teachers can assess student assignments in a single day (74.4%). The findings imply that in most public primary schools, the ratio of teachers to pupils was very high. According to MOEST (2019), free primary education saw an influx in the number of new pupils' enrollment leading to congestion in classes and tremendous teachers' shortage in public primary schools. Nevertheless, some researchers established that academic achievement cannot exclusively be the result of the small class size. They suggest that number of students in a classroom has an influence on the classroom process, course activities, students' engagement and consequently students' learning. However, the real reason behind the academic achievement is that; small class size actually gives teachers the opportunity to spend more time with each student which more directly affects their learning and academic success (Croll & Hastings, 1996). Further, the findings agreed with Waita and Mulei (2020) observation that pupil-teacher ratio negatively correlates with performance. This because such judgments reveal that other than class size, the student teacher ratio is an important aspect to look since that factor actually indicates the time the teacher spends with each student for meaningful learning to take place.

The principals were asked to explain how pupil-teacher ratio had implicated the pupils' performance considering increased pupils enrolment as a result of FPE. All the participants expressed concerns regarding the teachers' shortage, which was counterproductive in realizing the free primary education goals. They further observed that in most public primary schools, the pupil teacher ratio was extremely high making it difficult for teachers to effectively attend to all the learners' need. One of the participants, P6, noted that "*teachers are overwhelmed by the large*

number of pupils in class". Another participant, P4, reiterated that "...*teachers cannot manage to attend to each pupil given the huge number of students per class*". The findings concurred with a study by Gathumbi et al. (2017) that a high student-teacher ratio due impacts the quality of education in poorly resourced schools. Further, the findings supported Kalemba and Mulauzi (2020) assertion that teacher-student relationship had a negative impact on the teaching and learning process.

4.7 Teaching-Learning Methods and Pupils' Performance

The study sought to evaluate the influence of teaching-learning methods on academic performance among public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County. The respondents were asked to rate the statements on teaching-learning methods. The scale used was as follows: Strongly disagree (1), Disagree (2), not sure (3) Agree (4), and strongly agree (5). Descriptive statistics results are illustrated in Table 4.5.

\mathbf{D} \mathbf{i} \mathbf{i} \mathbf{i} \mathbf{i} \mathbf{i} \mathbf{i} \mathbf{i}	1 .	.1 1
Descriptive Statistics on Leaching	_loarnina	mothode
Descriptive statistics on reacting	-icummy	memous

Statements on Teaching-learning	Strongly		Not		Strongly
methods	disagree	Disagree	sure	Agree	agree
	f(%)	f(%)	f(%)	f(%)	f(%)
Teacher-learning method depends on					
subject matter taught	11(6.4)	26(15.1)	16(9.3)	58(33.7)	61(35.5)
The teacher can adequately get in					
touch with each pupil	62(36)	67(39)	4(2.3)	18(10.5)	21(12.2)
Teachers give sufficient assignments to					
the pupils	5(2.9)	13(7.6)	7(4.1)	78(45.3)	69(40.1)
Teachers provide test to pupils as					
required.	6(3.5)	9(5.2)	4(2.3)	70(40.7)	83(48.3)
Teachers attend to pupil' tests and					
assignments in time	5(2.9)	18(10.5)	6(3.5)	65(37.8)	78(45.3)
It is rare for the teacher to meet					
learning objectives	56(32.6)	70(40.7)	8(4.7)	19(11)	19(11)

The findings in Table 4.5 indicated that most of the respondents agreed with the statements that teacher-learning method depends on subject matter taught (69.2%), teachers give sufficient assignments to the pupils (85.2%), teachers provide test to pupils as required (89%), and teachers attend to pupil' tests and assignments in time (83.1%). On the other hand, majority of the respondents disagreed with the claims that the teacher can adequately get in touch with each pupil (75%), and it is rare for the teacher to meet learning objectives (73.3%). The findings imply that most of the respondents supported the importance of having appropriate teaching-learning methods. Boyle et al. (2002) highlighted barriers to education to include teaching methods (Boyle et al., 2002). According to Ganyaupfu (2013), to facilitate the transfer of knowledge, teachers need to use appropriate teaching methods that best suit the specific goals and outcomes at the level. However, El-Zraigat and Smadi (2012) also indicated that most teachers don't receive sufficient in-service training, support and supervision. In addition, El-Zraigat and Smadi (2012) indicated that most teachers are not aware of validated and effective teaching practices used with students

with various learning needs. This could be hampering effective teaching and learning in our schools.

When asked their opinion on the teaching-learning methods adopted in schools given the overcrowding occasioned by increased enrolment of the pupils in the institution, the principals noted that they encourage teachers to adopt different teaching-learning methods. One of the participants, P1, stated that "... given the increased enrolment of learners, there was need to devise different teaching-learning mechanisms". The findings agreed with a study by Kathare (2020) that different teaching methods improve the academic performance of students.

According to the participants, providing learners with sufficient assignments is one of the ways of engaging them and assessing their understanding of the specific subjects. Another participant, P5, observed that "...*having a one on one interaction between teachers and learners would be the most effective teaching-learning method; however, this is not realistic given the scarcity of resources*". The findings were consistent with Munawaroh (2017) assertion that variety of teaching methods are an important factor in learning and without learning methods, learning will not be effective. The finding also point that use of many teachingl aids, assignments impact on academic performance. This corroborates Herold (2008) findings which indicated that engaging varied and meaningful interaction that incorporate basic mathematics concepts such as number counting, quantity, time/sequence and categorization into day-to-day routine enhances performance in mathematics. This implies that teachers should strive to use variety of teaching methods to ensure that all learners learn effectively. This is based on Morgan (1998) argument that the use of a combination of teaching methods, that is, the use of hands-on-materials and the use of traditional methods, ensure that both struggling learners and brighter students learn effectively.

4.8 Teachers Perception and Pupils' Performance

The study sought to find out the influence of teachers perception on academic performance among public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County. The respondents were asked to rate the statements on teachers perception. The scale used was as follows: Strongly disagree (1), Disagree (2), Not sure (3) Agree (4), and Strongly agree (5). Descriptive statistics results are illustrated in Table 4.6.

Table 4.6

Descriptive Statistics on Teachers Perception

	Strongly		Not		Strongly
Statements on Teachers Perception	disagree	Disagree	sure	Agree	agree
	f(%)	f(%)	f(%)	f(%)	f(%)
Teachers attend the classes during					
their respective lessons	7(4.1)	17(9.9)	9(5.2)	73(42.4)	66(38.4)
Teachers mark tests and are returned					
within the set timelines	7(4.1)	12(7)	11(6.4)	58(33.7)	84(48.8)
Teachers are demoralized by the					
scarcity of crucial resources	8(4.7)	17(9.9)	7(4.1)	71(41.3)	69(40.1)
I get stressed when I fail to meet					
syllabus coverage and deadlines	9(5.2)	18(10.5)	13(7.6)	63(36.6)	69(40.1)
Indiscipline cases among pupils lead					
to my loss of morale	70(40.7)	68(39.5)	12(7)	11(6.4)	11(6.4)
I feel handling overcrowded					
classroom is demoralizes my efforts	7(4.1)	22(12.8)	13(7.6)	61(35.5)	69(40.1)

The findings in Table 4.6 showed that majority of the respondents agreed with the statements that teachers attend the classes during their respective lessons (80.8%), teachers mark tests and are returned within the set timelines (82.5%), teachers are demoralized by the scarcity of crucial resources (81.4%), teachers get stressed when they fail to meet syllabus coverage and deadlines (76.7%), and teachers feel handling overcrowded classroom demoralizes their efforts (75.6%). Further, the respondents disagreed that indiscipline cases among pupils lead to their loss of morale (80.2%). The findings suggested a positive perception of most teachers towards free primary

education. According to the World Bank (2016), the overcrowded classroom makes it difficult for a teacher to effectively manage the high number of pupils contributing to the challenges related to pupils' indiscipline. The findings also concurred with a study by Kiarie (2017) that established that teachers have a good perception of education. Further, the findings Mirroreda study by Campbell-Phillips et al. (2020) that school teachers' perception enhances performance. In the same vein, De Laet et al. (2016) examined how teacher-student relationships, as observed by students, was related to their learning engagement. The results of the cross-lagged examination indicated that students who showed behavioral problems and less behavioral engagement had increased dissatisfaction with their teachers, thereby leading to an increase in issues with adjusting in class. The results indicated a positive relationship between students and teacher could lead to positive student learning. These findings showed the important role that teachers' perceptions had in influencing their students' engagement in learning.

The principals were asked whether overcrowding in classes had affected teachers' morale and perception. All the participants were in agreement that overcrowding in classes had adversely influenced teachers' morale and perception. One of the participants, P3 observed that most teachers are demoralized since they are unable to meet their teaching objectives due to the large number of pupils in a classroom, in cases there is no connection with the teacher, they may have learning issues that are not being addressed adequately enough in the classroom. Some students need one on one engagement, or a situation where a teacher sits down with them and go through an assignment one by one and one on one. The participants also mentioned scarcity of resources such as classrooms and text books as a major setback that interferes with teachers' morale and attitude. According to Adeyemo (2017), the attitudes and interests of teachers play an important role in building good relationships with students for the advancement of education.

4.9 Pupils' Academic Performance

The respondents rated statements on dependent variable, which was pupils' academic performance. The scale used was as follows: 1=Not at all, 2=Less Extent, 3=Moderate Extent, 4=Great Extent, 5=Very great Extent. Descriptive statistics results are illustrated in Table 4.7.

Table 4.7

			Modera		Very
Statements on Pupils' Academic	Not at	Less	te	Great	great
Performance	all	Extent	Extent	Extent	Extent
	f(%)	f(%)	f(%)	f(%)	f(%)
Pupils KCPE performance is above	53(30.8				
average)	51(29.7)	34(19.8)	26(15.1)	8(4.7)
There is high transition and graduation					
rate	42(24)	40(23.3)	57(33.1)	29(16.9)	4(2.3)
The is increased indiscipline cases with					
crowded classrooms	5(2.9)	32(18.6)	7(4.1)	60(34.9)	52(30.2)
	40(23.3				
Pupils attend school everyday)	40(23.3)	3(1.7)	43(25)	46(26.7)
There is low dropout cases among the					
pupils	8(4.7)	24(14)	11(6.4)	57(33.1)	72(41.9)
There is high abseentism among	59(34.3				
teachers)	80(46.5)	5(2.9)	13(7.6)	15(8.7)

Descriptive Statistics on Pupils' Academic Performance

The findings in Table 4.7 revealed that 30.8% of respondents refuted the assertion that pupils KCPE performance was above average, 29.7% agreed to a small extent, while 19.8% agreed to a moderate extent. The respondents, 33.1% moderately agreed that there was high transition and graduation, while 24.4% refuted the claims. Further, 34.9% of the respondents greatly agreed that there were increased indiscipline cases with crowded classrooms, while 30.2% confirmed this assertion. In addition, 26.7% of the respondents noted to a very great extent that pupils attend school every day, 25% agreed to a great extent, while 23.3% refuted this claim. The respondents, 41.9% agreed to a very great extent that there were low dropout cases among the pupils. Finally, 46.7% of the respondents refuted the statement that there was high abseentism among teachers.

The findings imply that there was a serious challenge in the pupils' performance within public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County.

When asked to explain the policies they had put in place in order to increases pupils performance in this school, the principals cited that they encourage peer to peer support among the learners. Learners are encouraged to work together and support each other in areas of weakness and strength. Teachers are also instructed to ensure fair distribution of learning materials among the learners. The participants also noted that they encourage collaboration between teachers, learners and parents. One of the participants, P4 noted that it is important to involve all stakeholders if there is to be any meaningful improvement in pupils' performance.

The participants were asked to give their opinion on whether rolling of free primary education was timely and that the ministry of education had prepared the schools adequately to effect the policies. All the participants agreed that despite the challenges, free primary education was and still remains to be a great program that has enabled so many needy children to go through education. The ministry of education needs to focus on improving the quality of free primary education through provision of required teaching-learning resources such as classrooms, teachers, and textbooks among others.

Finally, the principals were asked to give their view on the effectiveness of free primary education. All the participants appreciated the impact that free primary education has had in ensuring that children acquire basic education. However, moving forward, there is need for the stakeholders to discuss and provide recommendations on areas that require improvement to further enhance the effectiveness of free primary education. One of the participants, P6 observed that having adequate classrooms, trained teachers and relevant teaching and learning materials would be a good start.

4.10 Correlation Analysis

This section provides results on the correlation between the independent and dependent variables. The study sought to determine the relationship between teaching-learning resources, pupil-teacher ratio, teaching-learning methods and teachers perception and academic performance among public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County. Results are shown in Table 4.8.

Table 4.8

		Academic Performance	Teaching Learning resources	Pupil Teacher Ratio	Teaching- learning methods	Teachers Perception
Academic	Pearson					
Performance	Correlation	1				
	Sig. (2-tailed)					
Teaching Learning	Pearson					
resources	Correlation	.689**	1			
	Sig. (2-					
	tailed)	.000				
Pupil Teacher	Pearson					
Ratio	Correlation	584**	544**	1		
	Sig. (2-	.000	.000			
	tailed)					
Teaching-learning	Pearson					
methods	Correlation	.732**	.733**	650**	1	
	Sig. (2-	.000	.000	.000		
	tailed)					
Teachers	Pearson					
Perception	Correlation	.696**	.659**	573**	.783**	1
	Sig. (2-					
	tailed)	.000	.000	.000	.000	

Correlation Results

** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Table 4.8 indicates that teaching-learning resources (r =.689**, P <.05), had a positive and significant correlation with pupils' academic performance. This denoted that teaching-learning resources were significantly associated with pupils' academic performance. The findings agreed

with a study by Julius and Ronald (2021) which found that learning resources such as appropriate textbooks, writing materials, e-learning materials and teacher manuals improve student performance.

The null hypothesis (Ho1) predicted that teaching learning resources have no statistically significant influence on academic performance among pupils in public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County. Based on the correlation results (p< .05), the null hypothesis was rejected suggesting that teaching learning resources have a statistically significant influence on academic performance among pupils in public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County.

Findings also indicates that pupil teacher ratio ($r = -.584^{**}$, P <.05), had a negative and significant correlation with pupils' academic performance. This denoted that pupil teacher ratio was significantly associated with pupils' academic performance. The study supported Ndayisaba (2017) assertion that a student whose class has a low student-teacher ratio has a high chance of doing well. Similarly, the findings agreed with the work of Malitano and Chobomba (2019) that showed a significant negative relationship between student-teacher ratio and academic achievement.

The null hypothesis (Ho2) predicted that pupil teacher ratio had no statistically significant influence on academic performance among pupils in public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County. Based on the correlation results (p < .05), the null hypothesis was rejected implying that pupil teacher ratio had a statistically significant influence on academic performance among pupils in public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County.

The results further reveal that teaching-learning methods ($r = .732^{**}$, P < .05), had a positive and significant correlation with pupils' academic performance. This denoted that teaching-learning methods were significantly associated with pupils' academic performance. The findings supported

a study by Isa et al. (2018), which showed that most of the teacher's teaching methods have a great influence on students' academic achievement.

The null hypothesis (Ho3) predicted that teaching-learning methods had no statistically significant influence on academic performance among pupils in public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County. Based on the correlation results (p < .05), the null hypothesis was rejected implying that teaching-learning methods had a statistically significant influence on academic performance among pupils in public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County.

In addition, results showed that teachers perception ($r = .696^{**}$, P < .05), had a positive and significant correlation with pupils' academic performance. This denoted that teachers perception was significantly associated with pupils' academic performance. The findings were consistent with the work of Adeyemo (2017) who established that teacher is the most important educational factor that affects student learning achievement.

The null hypothesis (Ho4) predicted that teachers' perception had no statistically significant influence on academic performance among pupils in public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County. Based on the correlation outcome (p < .05), the null hypothesis was rejected implying that teachers perception had a statistically significant influence on academic performance among pupils in public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County.

4.11 Multiple Regression Model

The purpose of this study was to determine the influence of free primary education on pupils' academic performance in public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County, Laikipia County. To do this, the researcher started by testing statistical assumptions and thereafter undertaking conceptual framework hypothesis testing.

4.11.1 Findings on Statistical Assumptions

To conduct regression analysis tests the researcher started by testing whether the four statistical assumptions were met as recommended by (Cohen, Manion & Morrison, 2011). The assumptions included normality test, linearity test, multicollinearity test, and heteroscedasticity test.

4.11.1.1 Normality

The results on Table 4.9 showed that data for academic performance, teaching learning resources, pupil teacher ratio, teaching-learning methods, and teachers' perception was normally distributed. This is indicated by p values > 0.05.

Table 4.9 Normality Test using Shapiro-Wilk test

	Statistic	16	Si-
	Statistic	ai	51g.
Academic Performance	.974	172	0.053
Teaching Learning resources	.961	172	0.065
Pupil Teacher Ratio	.968	172	0.071
Teaching-learning methods	.976	172	0.101
Teachers Perception	.970	172	0.151

4.11.1. 2 Linearity Test

Linearity of the data means that the values of the outcome variable for each increament of prediction variable lie along a straight line. In this study, linearity was tested using scatter. Figure 4.1 presents the findings of the linearity.

Figure 4.1

Linearity tests plots







4.11.1. 3 Multicollinearity Test

According to the multicollinearity statistics in Table 4., the VIF value for all the variables is less than ten. In this case, Hence, VIF <10, there was no multicollinearity between the independent variables.

Multicollinearity Test Results

	Tolerance	VIF
Teaching Learning resources	0.438	2.281
Pupil Teacher Ratio	0.561	1.784
Teaching-learning methods	0.273	3.662
Teachers Perception	0.366	2.729
Overall		2.614

4.11.1. 4 Homoscedasticity Test

Table 4.11

Levene's Test of Equality of Error Variances

Dependent Variable: Y			
F	df1	df2	Sig.
2.159	72	99	0.071

Tests the null hypothesis that the error variance of the dependent variable is equal across groups.

P value >0.05, therefore, null hypothesis of constant variance of error terms was accepted.

4.8.2 Conceptual Framework Hypothesis Testing

After testing the assumptions of linear regression and found them appropriately satisfying the study, a multiple regression model was run to determine the predictive ability of the independent variables on the dependent variable. Tables 4.12, 4.13, and 4.14 provide model summary, Analysis of variance (ANOVA), and regression coefficients results respectively.

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate
1	.787 ^a	.620	.610	.2869349

Model Summary; Free Primary Education and Pupils' Academic Performance

a Predictors: (Constant), Teachers Perception, Teaching-learning methods, Teaching Learning resources, Pupil Teacher Ratio

Table 4.12 indicates that the four predictor variables in this study explain 62% of overall changes in pupils' academic performance (R^2 =.62). The remaining 38% can be attributed to other factors not included in this study model. These results support Table 4.8 findings that all predator variables and the dependent variable have a positive and significant correlation. The model was also validated using Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) and results are shown in Table 4.13.

Table 4.13

ANOVA; Free Primary Education and Pupils' Academic Performance

		Sum of		Mean		
Model		Squares	df	Square	\mathbf{F}	Sig.
1	Regression	22.389	4	5.597	67.985	.000 ^b
	Residual	13.749	167	.082		
	Total	36.139	171			

a Dependent Variable: Academic Performance

b Predictors: (Constant), Teachers Perception, Teaching-learning methods, Teaching Learning resources, Pupil Teacher Ratio

Table 4.13 shows an F statistic of 67.985 and a p-value of 0.000. The proposed model is statistically significant (excellent fit) in predicting the dependent variable due to the p value being less than the traditional value (p<0.05). The regression weights of each variable in the model are presented in Table 4.14.

Mode l		Unst Co	andardized efficients	St C	tandardize Coefficient	ed :s
		В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.
1	(Constant)	1.156	.389		2.972	.003
	Teaching Learning resources	.247	.067	.266	3.689	.000
	Pupil Teacher Ratio	139	.068	131	-2.053	.042
	Teaching-learning methods	.243	.083	.267	2.918	.004
	Teachers Perception	.237	.079	.237	3.004	.003

Regression Coefficients; Free Primary Education and Pupils' Academic Performance

a Dependent Variable: Academic Performance

The independent variables of teaching learning resources, pupil teacher ratio, and teachinglearning methods and teachers' perception had similar (Likert) scales and the constant-coefficient is significant, therefore, unstandardized B-coefficients were preferred. The multiple regressions result in Table 4.14 showed that teaching learning resources (β 1 =0.247, p = .000); teachinglearning methods (β 3=0.243, P =.004); and teachers perception (β 4= 0.237, P =.003) are significantly and positively related to pupils' academic performance. On the other hand, pupil teacher ratio (β 2= -0.139, P =.042) was significantly and negatively related to pupils' academic performance.

Thus, the hypothesized model $[Y = \beta 0 + \beta 1X1 + \beta 2X2 + \beta 3X3 + \beta 4X4 + \varepsilon]$ becomes;

Y = 1.156 + 0.247X1 - 0.139X2 + 0.243X3 + 0.237X4

Where;

- Y- Pupils performance
- X₁-Teaching learning resources
- X₂ Pupil-teacher ratio
- X₃ Teaching-learning methods

X₄-Teachers' perception

The model implied that pupils' performance is significantly determined by teaching learning resources, pupil teacher ratio, and teaching-learning methods and teachers' perception. This suggested that free primary education was critical in enhancing pupils performance. The regression weights (Table 4.11) revealed that all the independent variables significantly determine the dependent variable to varying degrees. The most significant predictor of pupils performance was teaching learning resources (β =0.247), followed by teaching-learning methods (β =0.243), followed by teachers' perception (β =0.237), and lastly pupil-teacher ratio (β = - 0.139).

The findings indicated that teaching learning resources contributes positively to pupils performance. According to Sifuna (2015), teachers need to have a supportive environment and resources in order to work effectively. The findings also supported a study by Julius and Ronald (2021) which found that learning resources such as appropriate textbooks, writing materials, e-learning materials and teacher manuals improve student performance. Further, results mirrored Livumbaze and Achoka (2017) study that identified the importance of adequate libraries, classrooms and laboratories to improve the performance of public schools.

The findings also indicated that teaching-learning methods contribute positively to pupils performance. The findings concurred with Brown (2006) premise on the usefulness of holistic teaching and learning methods in enhancing learners' performance. Ayieke (2005) asserts that the unsupportive learning environment and instructional strategies used in public primary schools are to blame for the rise in the dropout rate in these institutions. The results also supported a study by Isa et al. (2018) that found the majority of teachers' instructional strategies have a significant impact on their students' academic progress. Additionally, Muema et al. (2018) discovered a favorable correlation between instructional strategies and math students' achievement. A study by

Mvula (2020) which revealed no appreciable variation in the efficacy of several training methods, disagreed with the findings.

The findings further indicated that teachers' perception positively contributes to pupils performance. In a comparison study of low and high achievement between students in rural and urban schools, Mwai (2011) found that teacher credentials affect student accomplishment. The results confirmed Adeyemo's (2017) assertion that the most significant educational factor influencing students' learning achievement is their teacher. However, the findings disagreed with a study Williams (2017) which found no relationship between teacher perceptions and performance.

Finally, the findings indicated that pupil-teacher ratio negatively contributes to pupils performance. The findings supported Chunk (2019) observation that the differences in FPE systems, the increase in enrollment as a result of FPE has put a lot of pressure on schools' ability to provide high-quality education. Further, the learner teacher contact is reduced and therefore effective learning and teaching is hindered. Additionally, the findings mirrored those of Malitano and Chobomba (2019) who concluded that there was a negative and significant relationship between the student-teacher ratio and academic achievement.

CHAPTER FIVE

SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Introduction

The study findings, conclusions, and recommendations are summarized in this chapter. This is done in line with the objectives of the study. The goal of this study was to ascertain how the free primary education program affected students' academic performance in Laikipia West Sub-public County's primary schools.

5.2 Summary of Major Findings

This section presents a summary of the findings from the analysis.

5.2.1 Teaching-learning resources and pupils performance

The first objective of the study was to assess the influence of teaching-learning resources on academic performance among public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County. The respondents refuted claims that there was sufficient teacher guides in the school (87.8%), the test books were enough to be shared one between two pupils (87.8%), there were enough teaching aids to serve all classes (83.7%), and classes were not congested with pupils sharing desks (80.9%).

From the qualitative responses; four principals indicated that the ministry of education was not doing enough to ensure sufficient resources are available in schools. They cited classrooms, text books and teachers as some of the resources that were not adequately provided. On the other hand, three principals acknowledged the government's efforts to provide resources to support free primary education. All the participants were in agreement that teaching-learning resources were critical in ensuring the success of free primary education through improved learners' performance. The correlation results revealed that teaching-learning resources had a positive and significant correlation with pupils' academic performance (r =.689**, P <.05). Regression results revealed that teaching-learning resources had a positive and significant influence on pupils' academic performance (β 1 =0.247, p = .000). The null hypothesis that teaching learning resources have no statistically significant influence on academic performance among pupils in public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County was rejected.

5.2.2 Pupil-Teacher Ratio and pupils performance

The second objective of the study was to determine the influence of pupil-teacher ratio on academic performance among public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County. The respondents agreed that at least every class had a minimum of 50 and a maximum of 70 pupils (90.7%), teaching resources were never enough when shared among pupils (84.9%), and teachers can mark pupils' tests within the set timelines (79.7%). Further, majority of the respondents disagreed with the assertions that there was no teacher shortage in the school (88.4%), and teachers were able to attend to the needs of pupil in a single lesson (84.9%).

From the qualitative responses; all the participants expressed concerns regarding the teachers' shortage, which was counterproductive in realizing the free primary education goals. They further observed that in most public primary schools, the pupil teacher ratio was extremely high making it difficult for teachers to effectively attend to all the learners' need.

The correlation results revealed that pupil-teacher ratio had a negative and significant correlation with pupils' academic performance (r = -.584**, P <.05). Regression results revealed that pupil-teacher ratio had a negative and significant influence on pupils' academic performance (β 2= - 0.139, P =.042). The null hypothesis that pupil-teacher ratio has no statistically significant

influence on academic performance among pupils in public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County was rejected.

5.2.3 Teaching-learning methods and pupils performance

The third objective of the study was to evaluate the influence of teaching-learning methods on academic performance among public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County. The respondents agreed with assertions that teacher-learning method depends on subject matter taught (69.2%), teachers give sufficient assignments to the pupils (85.2%), teachers provide test to pupils as required (89%), and teachers attend to pupil' tests and assignments in time (83.1%). Further, the respondents disagreed that the teacher can adequately get in touch with each pupil (75%), and it was rare for the teacher to meet learning objectives (73.3%).

From the qualitative responses; the principals noted that they encourage teachers to adopt different teaching-learning methods. According to the participants, providing learners with sufficient assignments is one of the ways of engaging them and assessing their understanding of the specific subjects.

The correlation results revealed that teacher-learning methods had a positive and significant correlation with pupils' academic performance (r =.732**, P <.05). Regression results revealed that teacher-learning methods had a positive and significant influence on pupils' academic performance (β 3=0.243, P =.004). The null hypothesis that teacher-learning methods have no statistically significant influence on academic performance among pupils in public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County was rejected.

5.2.4 Teachers perception and pupils performance

The fourth objective of the study was to find out the influence of teachers perception on academic performance among public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County. The respondents agreed

with the statements that teachers attend the classes during their respective lessons (80.8%), teachers mark tests and are returned within the set timelines (82.5%), teachers were demoralized by the scarcity of crucial resources (81.4%), teachers get stressed when they fail to meet syllabus coverage and deadlines(76.7%), and teachers feel handling overcrowded classroom demoralizes their efforts (75.6%). From the qualitative responses; all the participants were in agreement that overcrowding in classes had adversely influenced teachers' morale and perception. The participants also mentioned scarcity of resources such as classrooms and text books as a major setback that interferes with teachers' morale and attitude.

The correlation results revealed that teachers perception had a positive and significant correlation with pupils' academic performance (r =.696**, P <.05). Regression results revealed that teachers perception had a positive and significant influence on pupils' academic performance (β 4= 0.237, P =.003). The null hypothesis that teachers' perception has no statistically significant influence on academic performance among pupils in public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County was rejected.

5.2.5 Summary based on the overall model

The main objective of the study was to determine the influence of free primary education on pupils' academic performance in public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County, Laikipia County. The regression results indicated that all the four independent variables jointly explained sixty-two percent of overall variation in the dependent variable. These results confirmed the output of the correlation that demonstrated that significant relationships between all the independent variables and the dependent variable. Further, the most significant predictor of pupils performance was teaching learning resources, followed by teaching-learning methods, followed by teachers' perception, and lastly pupil-teacher ratio.

5.3 Conclusion

This section provides a conclusion based on the study findings.

5.3.1 Teaching-learning resources and pupils performance

The study concluded that teaching-learning resources had a positive and significant influence on pupils performance. This has the implication that teaching-learning resources contribute positively to pupils performance in public primary schools. The key aspects regarding teaching-learning resources were teacher guides, test books, teaching aids and classrooms.

5.3.2 Pupil-Teacher Ratio and pupils performance

The study concluded that pupil-teacher ratio had a negative and significant influence on pupils performance. This has the implication that pupil-teacher ratio contribute negatively to pupils performance in public primary schools. The key aspects of pupil-teacher ratio were number of learners per class, teaching resources, teacher's efficiency, and teacher shortage in the school.

5.3.3 Teaching-learning methods and pupils performance

The study concluded that teaching-learning methods had a positive and significant influence on pupils' performance. This has the implication that teaching-learning methods contribute positively to pupils' performance in public primary schools. In particular, the study concluded that teacher-learning method depends on subject matter taught, teachers give sufficient assignments to the pupils, teachers provide test to pupils as required and teachers attend to pupil' tests and assignments in time.

5.3.4 Teachers perception and pupils performance

The study concluded that teacher's perception had a positive and significant influence on pupils' performance. This has the implication that teachers' perception contributes positively to pupils'

performance in public primary schools. The key aspects of teachers' perception were teachers' class attendance, teachers' responsiveness, syllabus coverage and overcrowded classrooms.

5.4 Recommendations

This section presents recommendations on study results, implications on policy, practice, and theory.

5.4.1 Recommendations on study results

The findings showed that teaching-learning materials had a favorable and significant impact on students' performance. The report recommended that appropriate teaching-learning materials be provided to public elementary schools by the Kenyan government through the ministry of education. Some of these resources should include teacher guides, test books, teaching aids and classrooms. The results established that pupil-teacher ratio had a negative and significant influence on pupils' performance. The study recommended the need for the government of Kenya through the ministry of education to provide sufficient teachers to public primary schools.

The study also proved that the effectiveness of teaching-learning strategies in influencing students' performance was good and significant. The report advised the Kenyan government to improve teaching-learning strategies in public elementary schools through the ministry of education. In particular, key emphasis should be on subject matter, learner's assignment, and assessment test. Finally, the study established that teachers' perception had a positive and significant influence on pupils' performance. The study recommended the need for the public schools management and ministry of education to improve teachers' perception in public primary schools. In particular, the focus should be on the following aspects: teachers class attendance, teachers' responsiveness, syllabus coverage and overcrowded classrooms.

5.4.2 Implications on Theory, Policy and Practice

In the area of educational leadership and management, this study is anticipated to significantly advance theory, policy, and practice. The study adds to the corpus of knowledge regarding the connection between free primary education and students' academic achievement in public primary schools from a theoretical standpoint. The study also supports the numerous ideas that served as the foundation for the variables and verifies the theoretical framework. In terms of policy, the study offers guidance to decision-makers like the government of Kenya, the ministry of education, and the administration of public schools on how to enhance the free primary education program. In particular, the focus should be on teaching learning resources, teaching-learning methods, teachers' perception and pupil-teacher ratio in that order. The study provides managers of public schools with practical guidance on how to improve student performance while utilizing the free primary education program.

5.5 Suggestions for Further Research

The study investigated how students' academic performance in public primary schools in Laikipia West Sub-County, Laikipia County, was affected by free primary education. The focus was on four components (teaching-learning resources, pupil-teacher ratio, and teaching-learning methods and teachers perception). The four constructs explained 62% of changes in the outcome construct. Future studies should consider other aspects that account for the remaining 38%.

REFERENCES

- Abubakar, M. B. (2020). Impact of instructional materials on students' academic performance in Physics, in Sokoto-Nigeria. In *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, 476 (1), 7-11. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/476/1/012071.
- Adeyemo, S. A. (2017). The effect of teachers' perception and students' perception of physics classroom learning environment on their academic achievement in senior secondary schools physics. *International Journal of Educational Research and Technology*, 2(1), 74-81. https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/T-The-Effect-of-Teachers%27-Perception-and-Students%27-Adeyemo/791d306d085b8381c37000ae2c314bf64db1972b
- Amon, M. (2017). Learning resources and academic performance of learners in selected secondary schools in Mbarara Municipality, Mbarara District, Uganda. [Masters thesis, Kampala International University]. Uganda. http://hdl.handle.net/20.500.12306/2903
- Ancho, I., Galang, A., Cruz, A. D., & Cruz, R. D. (2021). Investigating Student-Teacher Ratio as a Factor in Reading Performance: The Case of the Philippines. *Eternal English, Teaching, Learning, and Research Journal,* 7(1), 52-64. https://doi.org/10.24252/Eternal.V71.2021.A4.
- Atandi, B. C., Gisore, B., & Ntabo, A. J. (2019). Influence of Teaching Methods on Students' Academic Performance in Kiswahili Subject in Public and Private Secondary Schools in Lang'ata Sub-county. African Research Journal of Education and Social Sciences, 6(2), 16-24. https://www.arjess.org
- Bello, A. A., Aderanti, R. A., Rosemary, A. A., & Bankole, F. (2019). Influence of Student-Teacher Ratio on the Academic Performance of Public Primary School Pupils in Odeda Local Government Area, Ogun State. *European Journal of Scientific Research*, 152 (2), 161-166. http://www.europeanjournalofscientificresearch.com
- Bowden, R. (2008). Linking Premise to Practice: An Instructional Theory-Strategy Model Approach. *Journal of College Teaching & Learning*, 5(3), 69–76. https://clutejournals.com/index.php/TLC/article/view/1305
- Brown, G. (2016). *Our Final Goal must be to Offer a Global New Deal*. https://sarpn.org/documents/d0001842/Gordon-Brown_poverty_Jan2006.pdf
- Bryman, A. (2012). Social research methods, (4th ed). Oxford University Press.
- Bwire, A., Huang, Y., Masingila, J.O., & Ayot, H. (2021). *Proceedings of the 2nd International Conference on Education.* Kenyatta University.
- Bhattacherjee, A. (2012). Social science research: Principles, methods, and practices. University of South Florida. http://repository.out.ac.tz/504/1
- Campbell-Phillips, S., Halder, D. P., Campbell, S., & Phillips, D. (2020). Primary School Teachers' Perception: A Study on Assessment Components and Its Effects. https://doi.org/10.9734/ajess/2020/v6i430184.

- Ceroni, M. R., Carpigiani, B., Castanheira, M. P., & da Silva, A. A. (2016). The perception of teachers about students' potentialities and difficulties. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 217(1), 958-966. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.02.070
- Contreras, M. E. (2019). *The effects of teacher perceptions and expectations on student achievement.* [Doctoral dissertation, University of California]. San Diego. https://escholarship.org/uc/item/1b84k07z
- Chunk, D. H. (2019). *Learning Theories: An Educational Perspective*, (6th Ed.). Pearson Education Inc. https://www.pearson.com/us/higher-education/product/Schunk-Learning-Theories-An-Educational-Perspective-6th-Edition/9780137071951.html
- Cooper, R. D., &Schindler, P. S. (2011). *Business research methods*, (9th Ed.). McGraw Hill. https://www.scirp.org/(S(351jmbntvnsjt1aadkposzje))/reference/ReferencesPapers.aspx? ReferenceID=1288904
- Galle, S. A., Agahu I. S., & Riko, T. M. (2020). Impact of Instructional Materials on Students' Academic Performance in Quantitative Economics in North-West State Colleges of Education, Nigeria. *Quest Journals*, 8(12), 2321-9467. https://doi.org/10.1371/project.252125
- Ganyaupfu, E. M. (2013). Teaching methods and students' academic performance. *International Journal of Humanities and Social Science Invention*, 2(9), 29-35. http://www.ijhssi.org/papers/v2(9)/Version-2/E0292029035.pdf
- Gathumbi, A. M., Nyiwa, K., & Maithya, R. (2017). Influence of Pupil-teacher Ratio on Performance in Kenya Certificate of Primary Education in Makueni County, Kenya. *International Journal of Humanities and Social Science Invention*, 6(1), 50-54. http://41.89.227.156:8080/xmlui/handle/123456789/950
- Gawel, J. E. (2017). Herzberg's theory of motivation and Maslow's hierarchy of needs. *Practical Assessment, Research & Evaluation, 5*(11), 3-14.https://scholarworks.umass.edu/pare/vol5/iss1/11/
- GOK (2005). A Policy Framework for Education, Training & Research, Meeting the challenges of Education, Training and Research paper. https://www.idea-phd.net/images/docpdf/Managing_Developing/policy-framework-for-education-training.pdf
- Hayes, S. C. (2014). Acceptance and commitment therapy, relational frame theory, and the third wave of behavioural and cognitive therapies. *Behaviour Therapy*, *35*(4), 639-665. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0005789404800133

- Huitt, W. (2004). *Maslow's hierarchy of needs. Educational Psychology Interactive. Conceptual Approach.* Allyn and Bacon. http://www.rlifiles.com/files/en/2015_Grad_F.pdf
- Hupp, S. D., Reitman, D., & Jewell, J. D. (2008). *Cognitive behavioral theory. Handbook of clinical psychology*. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. https://www.researchgate.net
- Isa, S. G., Mammam, M. A., Baddar, Y., & Bala, T. (2018). The impact of teaching methods on academic performance of secondary students in Nigeria. *International Journal of Development Research*, 10(1), 37382-37385. https://doi.org/10.37118/ijdr.18223.07.2020
- Julius K. K., & Ronald, W.K. (2021). Influence of Instructional Resources on Learners' Performance in Public Secondary Schools in Transmara West Sub- County, Narok County, Kenya.
 https://himjournals.com/articles/123_Influence_of_Instructional_Resources_on_Learners _Performance_in_Public_Secondary_Schools_in_Transmara_West_Sub_County_Narok_ County_Kenya
- Kalemba, C. M., & Mulauzi, F. (2020). Effect of High Pupil-Teacher Ratio on the Quality of Teaching and Learning Process of Mathematics in Selected Public Secondary Schools of Lusaka District, Zambia. *International Journal of Research Publication and Reviews*, 1(4), 60-69. http://dspace.unza.zm/handle/123456789/6538
- Kathare, N. M. (2020). Effect of Teaching Methods on Academic Performance In Mathematics Among Learners With Hearing Impairment In Meru County, Kenya [Masters Thesis, Kenyatta University]. Kenya. http://ir-library.ku.ac.ke/handle/123456789/21324
- Kenya, P. (2008). The Kenya Free Primary Education Policy (FPE): An Assessment on the Impact and Sustainability of Free Primary Education in Migwani Division. CENDEP. Oxford Brookes University. https://www.readkong.com/page/oxford-brookes-university-paulkenya-the-kenya-free-primary-8256671
- Kenyatta, C. P. (2019). From Perception to Practice: How Teacher-Student Interactions Affect African American Male Achievement. *Journal of Urban Learning, Teaching, and Research*, 8(1), 36-44. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ979953
- Kiarie, S. M. (2017). Effects of Teachers' Perceptions on Students' Perceptions and Achievement in Environmental Education in Secondary School Biology in Gilgil Sub-County Nakuru County, Kenya. *International Journal of Environmental and Science Education*, 11(12), 5736-5761. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1115678
- Kimalel, B. C. (2019). Influence of instructional resources on children's early literacy performance in public pre-schools in Kanduyi Sub-County, Bungoma County, Kenya. [Master's Thesis, Kisii University]. Kenya. http://41.89.196.16:8080/xmlui/handle/123456789/968

- Kothari, C.R. (2011). *Research Methodology: Methods and Techniques*, (2nd Ed.). New International (p) Ltd, New Delhi, India. https://books.google.com
- Livumbaze, A. G., & Achoka, S. J. (2017). Analyzing the Effect Of Teaching/Learning Resources On Students'academic Achievement In Public Secondary Schools, Hamisi Sub-County, Kenya. *European Journal of Education Studies*, 3(1), 361-376. https://doi.org/10.12816/0036069
- Malitano C., & Chibomba, (2019). Assessing the Effect of Pupil Teacher Ratio on the Performance of Grade 9 candidates: A Case Study of Selected Schools in Ndola. *The International Journal of Multi-Disciplinary Research*, 1(1), 1-19. http://www.multiresearch.net/cms/publications/CFP13152019.pdf
- Mayer, R. E. (1992). Cognition and instruction: On their historic meeting within educational psychology. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 84 (4), 405-412. https://psycnet.apa.org/getdoi.cfm?doi=10.1037/0022-0663.84.4.405
- Milheim, K. L. (2012). Towards a better experience: Examining student needs in the online classroom through Maslow's hierarchy of needs model. *Journal of Online Learning and Teaching*, 8(2), 159-167. http://10.1.1.892.4995&rep=rep1&type=pdf
- Ministry of Education Science and Technology. (2015) National Action Plan for Education for All. Nairobi: Ministry of Education, Science and Technology. https://www.era-learn.eu
- Ministry of Education Science and Technology. (2019). *Free Primary Education, Every Child in School. Government Printer*. https://www.era-learn.eu
- Morumbwa, J. (2016). Factors influencing performance in Kenya Certificate of Primary Education (KCPE) in Nyamaiya Division, Nyamira District. [Doctoral dissertation, University of Nairobi]. Nairobi. http://erepository.uonbi.ac.ke
- Mugenda, O. M., &Mugenda, G. A. (2003). *Research Methods: Quantitative and Qualitative Approaches*. African Centre for Technology Studies (ACTS)-Press. https://www.scirp.org/(S(351jmbntvnsjt1aadkposzje))/reference/ReferencesPapers.aspx? ReferenceID=1917785
- Mugenda, O.M., & Mugenda, A.G. (2009). *Research Methods: Quantitative and Qualitative Approaches*. ACTS Press Kenya. http://www.sciepub.com/reference/145802
- Mbia, B. A., & Nsungo, U. N. (2019). Effect of Innovative Teaching Methods in Physics on the Academic Performance of Secondary School Students in Akamkpa Local Government Area.https://abjournals.org/bjeldp/wpcontent/uploads/sites/8/journal/published_paper/vol ume-2/issue-1/BJELDP_tF1LnsPT.pdf
- Muema, J., Mulwa, D., & Mailu, S. (2018). Relationship between teaching method and students' performance in Mathematics in public secondary schools in Dadaab Sub County, Garissa County; Kenya. *IOSR Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 8(5), 59-63.

https://www.iosrjournals.org/iosr-jrme/papers/Vol-8%20Issue-5/Version-5/E0805052832.pdf

- Mulinya, L. C., & Orodho, J. A. (2017). Free Primary Education Policy: Coping Strategies in Public Primary Schools in Kakamega South District, Kakamega County, Kenya. *Journal* of Education and Practice, 6(12), 162-172.
- Munawaroh, N. (2017). The influence of teaching methods and learning environment to the student's learning achievement of craft and entrepreneurship subjects at vocational high school. *International Journal of Environmental & Science Education*, *12*(4), 665-678. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1144859
- Mupa, P., & Chinooneka, T. I. (2017). Factors Contributing to Ineffective Teaching and Learning in Primary Schools: Why Are Schools in Decadence. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 6(19), 125-132. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1079543
- Musyoka, J. M. (2018). School Based Factors Influencing Students' Performance In Kenya Certificate Of Secondary Examination In Public Secondary Schools In Kathiani Sub-County. http://repository.seku.ac.ke/bitstream/handle/123456789/4086/Musyoka_School%20base d%20factors%20influencing%20students%E2%80%99%20performance%20in%20Keny a%20certificate%20of%20secondary%20examination%20in%20public%20Secondary%2 Oschools%20in%20Kathiani%20Sub-county.PDF?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- Mvula, A. K. (2020). Teaching methods and students' academic performance in kinematical motion: Graphical interpretation and conceptual understanding. *American Journal of Social Sciences and Humanities*, 5(1), 69-103. https://doi.org/10.20448/801.51.69.103.
- Naisianoi, M., Koome, P., & Marima, E. (2020). Influence of teaching and learning materials availability on the development of pupils in upper primary schools in Karunga Zone, Gilgil Sub County. *International Journal of Research in Business and Social Science*, 9(5), 294-301. https://doi.org/10.20525/ijrbs.v9i5.864
- Ndayisaba, P. (2017). *Pupil-teacher ratio and pupils'academic performance in public primary schools in kicukiro district, Rwanda.* [Master Thesis, Mount Kenya University]. Rwanda. http://erepository.mkiu.ac.rw/handle/123456789/6546
- Obasi, E. (2000). The impact of economic recession on UPE in Nigeria. International Journal of
Educational Development, 20(3), 189-207.
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0738059399000565
- Obiakor, M. I., & Oguejioffor, C. N. (2020). Impact of Classroom Size on Academic Performance of Secondary School Students in Enugu North Local Government Area of Enugu State, Nigeria. African Journal of Educational Management, Teaching and Entrepreneurship Studies, 1(1), 51-59. https://ajemates.org/index.php/ajemates/article/view/11

- Oke, A. A. (2020). Teachers' Teaching Methods and Students' Academic Performances in Ibarapa East Local Government Area Secondary Schools. *International Journal of Advanced Academic Research (Arts, Humanities and Education)*, 6(10). 15-28. https://www.ijaar.org/articles/v6n10/ahe/ijaar-ahe-v6n10-oct20-p12.pdf
- Oluyinka B. D., Magaji A. S., Lawan A. M. & Yunusa S. (2021): Statistical Treatment of Student-Teacher Ratio as a Measure of Academic Performance in Mathematics for African Development. International *Journal of Advanced Studies in Business Strategies and Management*, 9(1), 106-117. https://doi.org/10.48028/iiprds/ijasbsm.v9.i1.09.
- Ondieki, P. O., & Orodho, A. J. (2015). School-based factors influencing performance of pupils on transition from lower primary to upper primary in Ekerenyo Division, Nyamira County, Kenya. *Research on Humanities and Social Sciences*, 5(6), 2225-0484. http://irlibrary.ku.ac.ke/handle/123456789/13802
- Otieno, M. A., & Ochieng, J. A. (2020). Impact Of 100 Per Cent Transition Policy on Public Secondary Schools in Machakos Sub-County, Kenya: Focusing on Coping Strategies. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 11(24), 69-77. https://www.iiste.org/Journals/index.php/JEP/article/view/53861
- Phillips, D.C. (2014). *Encyclopedia of Educational Theory and Philosophy*. SAGE Publications. http://ai-makurdi.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/98.
- Redding, C. (2019). A teacher like me: A review of the effect of student-teacher racial/ethnic matching on teacher perceptions of students and student academic and behavioral outcomes. *Review of educational research*, 89(4), 499-535. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654319853545
- Saunders, M., Lewis P., & Thornhill, A. (2009). *Research Methods for Business Students*, (5th Ed.). Prentice-Hall. https://www.academia.edu/23374295
- Sifuna, D. (2015). The illusion of universal free primary education in Kenya. *Wajibu: A journal of social and religious concern, 19*(2), 5-8. http://africa.peacelink.org/wajibu/articles/art_6901.html
- Simiyu, C., N. (2019). The Challenges of Free Primary Education Implementation in Primary Schools in Bungoma County, Kenya. International Journal of Scientific Research and Management, 7(1), 836-844. https://doi.org/10.18535/ijsrm/v7i1.el02

- Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2018). Limitations and delimitations in the research process. *Perioperative Nursing*, 7(3), 155-163. https://www.spnj.gr/en/limitations-and-delimitations-in-the-research-process-p160.html
- Timmermans, A. C., de Boer, H., & van der Werf, M. P. (2018). An investigation of the relationship between teachers' expectations and teachers' perceptions of student attributes. Social psychology of education, 19(2), 217-240. Https://Doi.Org/10.1007/S11218-015-9326-6
- Tobister, M. (2017). Factors Influencing Academic Performance In Kenya Certificate Of Primary Education In Kiminini Sub County, Trans Nzoia County, Kenya. [Masters Thesis, Moi University]. Kenya. http://ir.mu.ac.ke:8080/xmlui/handle/123456789/815
- Tooley, J. (2014). Private Education and Education for all. *Economic Affairs* 24(4), 4–7. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/4989359
- UNESCO (2018). Preparation of National Plans of Action, Education for all, Country Guidelines. https://unesdoc.unesco.org
- UNICEF. (2005). *Regional disparities threaten progress towards education for all.* http://www.unicef .org/info by country/Kenya newsline.html
- USAID. (2016). Issues Briefs from Africa Bureau Office of Sustainable Development. USAID. https://www.usaid.gov/sites/default/files/documents/1866/2016
- Usmani, S., & Dawani, K. (2013). Teaching Methods and their impact on performance of University students. *South Asian Journal of Management Sciences*, 7(1), 19-30. http://sajms.iurc.edu.pk/issues/2013a/Spring2013V7N1P3.pdf
- Vrioni, R. (2019). Effects of group learning on the academic performance of university students. *Problems of Education in the 21st Century*, *33*(1), 111-117. http://journals.indexcopernicus.com/abstract.php?icid=953270
- Waita, K., J. & Mulei, K., O. (2020). Pupil-Teacher Ratio and Its Impact On Academic Performance In Public Primary Schools In Central Division, Machakos County, Kenya. *European Journal of Education Studies*, 11(1), 39(68). http://hdl.handle.net/11295/96169
- Wamukuru, K., Kamau, D., & Ochola, O. (2015). *Challenges Facing the Implementation of Free Primary Education: A teacher''s perspective.* https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000151654
- Wanjiru, N. B. (2020). School-Based Variables Influencing Students' performance In Kenya Certificate Of Secondary Education (Kcse) In Public Day Secondary Schools In Nyeri County, Kenya. [Master Thesis, Kenyatta University]. Kenya. http://irlibrary.ku.ac.ke/handle/123456789/22866
- Welp, J. (2021). *The Progress and Potential of Education in Kenya*. https://borgenproject.org/potential-of-education-in-kenya/.

- World Bank. (2016). Kenya Free Primary Education Support Project, Vol. 1. Project Appraisal. https://projects.worldbank.org/en/projects-operations/project-detail/P146797
- Williams A. R. (2017). The Effect of Teachers' Expectations and Perceptions on Student Achievement in Reading for Third and Fifth Grade Students. [Doctoral Dissertation, University of Southern Mississippi]. Hattiesburg. https://aquila.usm.edu/dissertations/762/

APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Introduction Letter

Josphine Muthoni Thuranira

Kenya Methodist University,

P. O. Box

Nairobi, Kenya

Dear Respondent,

RE: RESEARCH DATA COLLECTION.

I am a student at Kenya Methodist University pursuing a master of education in leadership I am undertaking a research study on the **Influence of Free Primary Education on Pupils' Academic Performance among Public Primary Schools in Laikipia West Sub-county**.

You have been selected to be one of the respondents of this study. Kindly assist me to collect data by filling out the accompanying questionnaire where appropriate. The information provided on the questionnaire would be treated with uttermost confidentiality and will be used for academic purposes only. Your co-operation will be highly appreciated.

Thanking you in advance.

Yours Faithfully,

Josphine Muthoni Thuranira

Cellphone:

Email:

Appendix 2: Research Questionnaire

A. Background information

Please answer the following questions by placing a tick $[\sqrt{}]$ where appropriate in the spaces provided.

1) What is your age?

18 - 25 [] 26 - 35 [] 36 - 45 [] 46 - 55 [] 56 and above []
2) What is your gender?

> Male [] Female []

3) Which category of subject do you teach in your school?

Mathematics [] Languages [] Science [] Social Science [] Religion []

- 4) How many years have you worked in this school?
 - a. Less than 5 []
 - b. 5-10[]
 - c. 10-15 []
 - d. 15-20 []
 - e. Over 20 []
- 5) What is your highest education level? (Tick as appropriate).

Volunteer [] Certificate [] College Diploma [] university Degree [] Post

graduate []

6. How many teachers are in your school?

b) 20- 30 [] c) Over 30 [] a) Less than 20 []

7. How pupils on average do you handle in a class?

a) Less than 40 [] b) 40-50 [] c) Over 50 []

8. i. Please tell us whether you are satisfied with the number of pupils you teach in your class

Yes [] No []

If ii. Please no. in question 8(i)above. give justify your choice.....

For each statement given in parts **B**,**C**, **D** and **E** below, please read each carefully and indicate the degree to which you agree with the statement by placing a tick $[\sqrt{}]$ in the appropriate space using a rating scale of 1-5 where;

B. Teaching Learning resources and Pupils' Performance

To what extent did each of the following factors influence pupils' performance?

5=Strongly Agree, 4=Agree, 3=Not sure, 2=Disagree, 1=Strongly Disagree

Statements	1	2	3	4	5
1. There is sufficient teacher					
guides in the school					

2. The test books are enough to			
be shared one between two pupils			
3. There are enough teaching			
aids to serve all classes			
4. There are enough chalks to be			
used in all classes			
5. Classes are not congested with			
pupils sharing desks			
6. Sometime the school run out			
of chalks in the middle of lessons			

C. Pupil Teacher Ratio and Pupils' Performance

To what extent did each of the following factors influence pupils' performance?

5=Strongly Agree, 4=Agree, 3=Not sure, 2=Disagree, 1=Strongly Disagree

1. The is no teacher shortage in the school			
2. At least every class has a minimum of 50 and a maximum			
of 70 pupils			
3. Teachers are able to attend to the needs of pupil in a single			
lesson			
4. Teachers can assess student assignments in a single day			
5. Teaching resources are never enough when shared among			
pupils			
6. Teachers can mark pupils' tests within the set timelines			

D. Teaching-learning methods and Pupils' Performance

To what extent did each of the following factors influence pupils' performance?

5=Strongly Agree, 4=Agree, 3=Not sure, 2=Disagree, 1=Strongly Disagree

Statements	1	2	3	4	5
1. Teacher-learning method					
depends on subject matter taught					
2. The teacher can adequately					
get in touch with each pupil					
3. Teachers give sufficient					
assignments to the pupils					
4. Teachers provide test to pupils					
as required.					
5. Teachers attend to pupil' tests					
and assignments in time					

6. It is rare for the teacher to			
meet learning objectives			

E. Teachers Perception and Pupils' Performance

To what extent did each of the following factors influence pupils' performance?

5=Strongly Agree, 4=Agree, 3=Not sure, 2=Disagree, 1=Strongly Disagree

Statements	1	2	3	4	5
1.Teachers attend the classes					
during their respective lessons					
2.Teachers mark tests and are					
returned within the set timelines					
3. Teachers are demoralized by					
the scarcity of crucial resources					
4. I get stressed when I fail to					
meet syllabus coverage and deadlines					
5. Indiscipline cases among					
pupils lead to my lose of morale					
6. I feel handling overcrowded					
classroom is demoralizes my efforts					

F. Pupils' Academic Performance

Using a scale of **1=Not at all to 5=Very large extent**, give your opinion on Pupils' performance in terms of the following: *Instruction: please tick* $[\sqrt{]}$ only one option on the scale of 1-5

1=Not at all, 2=Less Extent, 3=Moderate Extent, 4=Great Extent, 5=Very great

Extent

Statements	1	2	3	4	5
1. Pupils KCPE performance is					
above average					
2. There is high transition and					
graduation rate					
3. The is increased indiscipline					
cases with crowded classrooms					
4. Pupils attend school everyday					

5. There is low dropout cases			
among the pupils			
6. There is high abseentism			
among teachers			

Appendix 3: Interview Guide

- 1) What is your position in this primary school?
- 2) How long have you worked in this institution?
- 3) Kindly give me an overview of this institution in terms of the number of pupils and the teachers as well.
- 4) Do you believe that the ministry of education is doing enough in terms of providing resource to support free primary education?
- 5) Talk to us about the significance of teaching-learning resource on pupils performance given the effect of free primary education
- 6) How pupil-teacher ratio has implicated the pupils' performance considering increased pupils enrolment as a result of FPE?
- 7) What can you make of the teaching-learning methods adopted in this school given the overcrowding occasioned by increased enrolment of the pupils in the institution?
- 8) How has the overcrowding in classes affected teachers' morale and perception?
- 9) What should the ministry prioritize in orders to increase the quality of services in the institution?

- 10) Which policies have you put in place in order to increases pupils performance in this school?
- 11) Do you feel the rolling of free primary education was timely and that the ministry of education had prepared the schools adequately to effect the policies?
 - 12) What can you make of the effectiveness of free primary education going forward?

Appendix 4: Authorization Letter from Kenya Methodist University

The second second state of the second s	Email: deanrd@kemu.ar.ke		
DIRECTORATE OF POSTGRADUATE STUDIES			
March 17, 2022			
Commission Secretary. National Commission for Science, Technology an P.O. Box 30623-00100, NAIROBI.	d Innovations.		
Dear sir/ Madam.			
JOSPHINE MUTHONI THURANIRA (EDU-3-000	02-1/2019)		
This is to confirm that the above named is a University, Department of Education , undertak Leadership and Management. She is conducting Education on Pupils' academic performance in pu County, Laikipia County'.	log a Degree of Master of Education research on, "Influence of Free Prim- blic primary schools in Laikipia West S		
We confirm that her research proposal has been d	efended and approved by the Univers		
In this regard, we are requesting your office to iss	ue a permit to enable her collect data		
her research.			
Thank will be appreciate	d.		
Dr. John Muchin, PHD.			
Director Postgraduate Studies			
COD. Education			
Posteraduate Co-ordinator			

Appendix 5: Authorization Letter from Ministry of Education



Appendix 6: NACOSTI Permit

And a second sec	Defended Avenue and the Antonia Without and an endlance 1
A designed and a second s	
	and the second sec
State of the Interest Tabledogs and Association-	Replaced Conversion Actualization Controls and Manuelles A
Sense and the Industry Participation of the Industry Party of the	Restance Converting on Part New York and Annual Strangeling of
And the second	NATIONAL COMMISSION FOR
Sentarel Colombia for Jaluras, farbering: and investor-	SCIENCE, TECHNOLOGY & INNOVATION
Statused Committee Revisionan Turbackopy and increasedies-	restand Conversion for Inform Techning, and Insuration-
Antipart Constitution for Information Turburkey, and analytica-	testatel durichizan Kiristiana, Yahrahan endian etici -
Statistic Conversion for Talasta Tarberhow and constation-	Indianal taxing sizes for action on Taxing has and instanting of
Ref No: 227283	Date of Issue: 22/March/2022
RESEARC	HLICENSE
Sectored Committee for Solarian States of Committee of	the state of the training the training the state of the s
Contraction in the state of the	
Second to the second se	a state of the second s
Contraction of Contra	and the state of t
Protected Communities for Control, National 20 First Annual	Sector and the factor of the sector of the s
202000 Generation for Estates, Tarbarding, that have	Sector Science, Technology and inconflict -
Solard Generative for Science, Technology and annual and the	and the Articles, Tablering, and the others -
Sulfreed Demonstern Ber Sciences, Barbardergy and Sciences	anyone on the latence. The other participants is a set of the set
Solices (Constitution for Schlers, Techarders) and Store (Constitution)	and the second s
Softward Consection for Extrany, Tixtustry) and January	www.commerce.com, Texturing, and least stient-
Sectored Constitute for Spinster, Turkering, and see	A Conversion for Talassa, Talassa Para Januarites -
States Committee Rev Solezas, Testaslego, and Jane Junits.	seanaes convolution for linkings. Tratvolugy and transmiss -
This is to Certify that Ms. JOSEPHINE THERANIRA MUTHO	NI of Kenva Methodist University, has been licensed to conduct.
research in Laikipia on the topic: INFLUENCE OF FREE PRIM	LARY EDUCATION ON PUPILS' ACADEMIC
PERFORMANCE IN PUBLIC PRIMARY SCHOOLS IN LAIK	IPLA WEST SUB-COUNTY, LAIKIPLA COUNTY for the period
suchages 22/March/2023.com, Testication and ensurements	Helissel Control on Portfoliation, "bahnatuge and installation -
Seriesel Committion Riv Laigues, Tarbacking, and remarking New NAM	ONTEPEZNARA TODA For Inknas, "talackage and Manuetics +
Sectorel Convictor for Inform, Techniky, and associates.	Refered Converteen For Indexes, Suffracting, and Internation of
Instant Convenies Revisions, Tailanters and assertions	technick formulates for technics, faction has end investigate
Seriord Consider for these Tables for tail searches-	miner the second sector to be a section -
Stringert Corrections for Eringen, Tarbackey and Separation-	Being Burgardes to anter Walker in worthand
227283	Performance and the training to the head of the section of the sec
Applicant Identification Number	Director General
and and from this for the large we had been been as the	NATIONAL COMMISSION FOR
	INNOVATION .
and the second s	The second
Contraction operations for the second s	Particular Contractor
period fremening for course, ficture 27 and appointer-	Destroyal Conversion of Conversion Office and Office one of the second states
Contrast Community for Scitters, Technology and antesting-	Decisional Compositions for Sections, Technology, and Second Res -
Solitored Generalities for Science, Technology and incording-	
Solaren) Completender Science, Technology and another-	
Redeved Committee for Relation, Tackardegy And Intervention-	12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 1
Sedered Constitution for Scitzers, Technology and Searchites-	interest Conversion in a supervision of the supervi
Antered Generalizer Rev Balance, Texturelagy and anaveilag-	Bertinet Convolution for the Article State State State State
Schurel Cenesizio Rectaluisa, Tatachajo entranerito -	And and Converted on North Converting of the Automatication of the
STATE NOTE: This is a computer generated License. To verify the authority	national and this document, a series and the second s
Scan the QR Code using QR scanner applica	tion. Restored Contenting For Interview researching the researching of
Antiquel Committee Revisioner, Wetterlein and inconstinue	and and down of the fee fighters. We should be and internetically
	the second state and the second state of the s
service of the participants of the service of the service of	mandan Vicinto Inione Astronometrica